
TOWN OF FLORENCE 
REGULAR MEETING  

AGENDA 
 

PURSUANT TO A.R.S. § 38-431.02, NOTICE IS HEREBY GIVEN TO THE MEMBERS 
OF THE FLORENCE TOWN COUNCIL AND TO THE GENERAL PUBLIC THAT THE 
FLORENCE TOWN COUNCIL WILL HOLD A MEETING OPEN TO THE PUBLIC ON 
MONDAY, NOVEMBER 18, 2013, AT 6:00 P.M., IN THE CHAMBERS OF TOWN 
HALL, LOCATED AT 775 NORTH MAIN STREET, FLORENCE, ARIZONA. 
 
1. CALL TO ORDER 

 
2. ROLL CALL: Mayor Rankin___; Vice-Mayor Smith___;   

Councilmembers:  Tom Celaya___; Bill Hawkins___;  
Ruben Montaño___; Tara Walter___; Vallarie Woolridge___;  
 

3.  INVOCATION 
 

4. PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE 
 

5. CALL TO THE PUBLIC  
Call to the Public for public comment on issues within the jurisdiction of the 
Town Council.  Council rules limit public comment to three minutes.  
Individual Councilmembers may respond to criticism made by those 
commenting, may ask staff to review a matter raised or may ask that a matter 
be put on a future agenda.  However, members of the Council shall not 
discuss or take action on any matter during an open call to the public unless 
the matters are properly noticed for discussion and legal action. 
 

6. PRESENTATION AND PUBLIC HEARING 
 

a. PUBLIC HEARING ON ORDINANCE NO. 603-13:  AN ORDINANCE OF THE 
TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, APPROVING A ZONE 
CHANGE ON THE OLD WEST BAIL BONDS/AMAZING RC HOBBIES 
PROPERTY, LOCATED AT 375 EAST BUTTE AVENUE, FLORENCE, 
ARIOZNA, AKA, APN 202-03-001 (PZC-15-13-ZC).  

  
b. Presentation by Greater Florence Chamber of Commerce recognizing the 

Business of the Month. 
 

c. Presentation on Citizen Survey Questionnaire.  
  

7. CONSENT: All items indicated by an (*) will be handled by a single vote as part 
of the consent agenda, unless a Councilmember or a member of the public 
objects at the time the agenda item is called. 
 

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight



a. * Approve the construction and sampling of Point of Compliance Well (POC 
#3) at the South Wastewater Treatment Plant. 

 
b. *Receive and file the following board and commission minutes: 

i.  April 10, and May 29, 2013 Historic District Advisory 

ii. 

iii. 
 

8. NEW BU
 
a. Ordin

FLOR
“SOL
 

b. Discu
towar
utilize

 
9. MANAGE
 
10. CALL TO

 
11. CALL TO

 
12. ADJOUR
 
Council ma
purpose of 
agenda item
 
POSTED TH
775 NORTH
ARIZONA, A
 
***PURSUAN
THE TOWN
DISABILITY
DISABILITY
CONTACTIN
7574 OR (5
POSSIBLE T
March 27,

Commission Minutes. 
July 18, August 1, and August 15, 2013 Planning and Zoning 
Commission minutes. 
July 25, 2013 Parks and Recreation Advisory Board minutes. 

SINESS 

ance No. 604-13:  First Reading of AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF 
ENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING TITLE V, CHAPTER 52, 
ID WASTE”.  

ssion/Approval/Disapproval to commit matching funds to be used 
ds the restoration of the Cuen building with a commitment to not 
 the restored building for governmental offices. 

R’S REPORT 

 THE PUBLIC  

 THE COUNCIL 

NMENT 

y go into Executive Session at any time during the meeting for the 
obtaining legal advice from the Town’s Attorney(s) on any of the 
s pursuant to A.R.S. § 38-431.03(A)(3). 

E 13th DAY OF NOVEMBER 2013, BY LISA GARCIA, TOWN CLERK, AT 
 MAIN STREET, 1000 SOUTH WILLOW STREET, FLORENCE, 

ND AT WWW.FLORENCEAZ.GOV. 

T TO TITLE II OF THE AMERICANS WITH DISABILITIES ACT (ADA), 
 OF FLORENCE DOES NOT DISCRIMINATE ON THE BASIS OF 
 REGARDING ADMISSION TO PUBLIC MEETINGS.  PERSONS WITH A 
 MAY REQUEST REASONABLE ACCOMMODATIONS BY 
G THE TOWN OF FLORENCE ADA COORDINATOR, AT (520) 868-
20) 868-7502 TDD. REQUESTS SHOULD BE MADE AS EARLY AS 
O ALLOW TIME TO ARRANGE THE ACCOMMODATION.***  

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight

mariah
Highlight



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE
COUNCIL ACTION 

FORM 

AGENDA ITEM
6a. 

MEETING DATE: November 18, 2013 
 
DEPARTMENT: Community Development 
 
STAFF PRESENTER: Mark Eckhoff, AICP 
                                     Community Development Director  
 
SUBJECT: Ordinance 603-13:  Old West Bail  
                   Bonds/Amazing RC Hobbies 
                   (PZC-15-13-ZC) 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

 

Ordinance No. 603-13 Old West Bail Bonds/Amazing RC Hobbies  Zone Change  PZC-15-13-ZC 
November 18, 2013 

Page 1 of 4 

RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Public hearing and first reading on November 18, 2013.  
 
On December 2, 2013, motion to adopt Ordinance No. 603-13 for the Old West 
Bail Bonds/Amazing RC Hobbies Zone Change. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
The applicant, Ron Escott, requests approval of the following application: 
 

A Zone Change to change the existing zoning on the subject 
property from Neighborhood Office (NO) to Neighborhood Business 
(B-1). The subject property is located at 375 East Butte Avenue, 
Florence, Arizona, AKA, APN 202-03-001. 

 
Old West Bail Bonds is a privately owned bail bonds business located at 375 
East Butte Avenue, Florence, Arizona.  The business is owned and managed by 
Sandra Margot-Escott and Ron Escott since October 2006.  
 
The owners recently decided to pursue a retail business venture in addition to the 
bail bond business. The owners split their building into two separate businesses, 
leaving each side with approximately 600 square feet per side.   The B-1 Zoning 
District is more appropriate for the expanded commercial nature of their 
operations. 
  
ANALYSIS: 
 
In accordance with Town of Florence requirements, a series of improvements to 
the subject site were implemented in 2009, as the property and home was 



 

Ordinance No. 603-13 Old West Bail Bonds/Amazing RC Hobbies  Zone Change  PZC-15-13-ZC 
November 18, 2013 

Page 2 of 4 

converted from a residential land use to a neighborhood office use.  The added 
improvements to the subject site makes the Zone Change from Neighborhood 
Office (NO) to Neighborhood Business (B-1) a good transition with minimal 
impacts to the surrounding neighbors. 
 
Over the long-term, it is plausible that surrounding adjacent properties facing 
Butte Avenue might be assembled to allow for commercial or office development. 
In fact, staff notes that the Town’s 2020 General Plan supports the 
redevelopment of this property and adjacent properties for commercial or office 
land uses.   This site has a Downtown Mix Use (DMU) land use designation in 
the General Plan that supports the application of commercial zoning on the 
subject site. The Downtown Mixed Use designation is used within the downtown 
areas to provide for a mix of land uses supportive of revitalization efforts while 
respecting the historical value of the area and existing developed properties. 
 
The subject site has undergone a design review application that was approved 
and therefore all the necessary improvements have been implemented.  Staff 
contends that the business is ready for the B-1 zoning due to the fact that the 
following have been established: 
 

 Paved  and striped parking area  
 Access to the site has already been established off of Park Street  
 Six foot screening wall from adjacent residences  
 Landscaping  
 Monument and wall signage 
 ADA accessible parking space and ramp 

 
FINDINGS: 
 

 
Surrounding Land Uses and  Zoning  Districts: 

  
Zoning Classification 

 
Existing Use 

 
North 

 
Neighborhood Office 
(NO)  

 
Vacant Land 

 
East 

 
Neighborhood Office 
(NO) 

 
Residential Home 

 
South 

 
Single- Family Residential 
(R1-6) 

 
Residential  Home 

 
West 

 
Neighborhood Office 
(NO) 

 
Residential  Home 

 
On-Site 

 
Neighborhood Office 
 (NO) 

 
Old West Bail Bonds 
Business 



 

Ordinance No. 603-13 Old West Bail Bonds/Amazing RC Hobbies  Zone Change  PZC-15-13-ZC 
November 18, 2013 

Page 3 of 4 

Staff offers the following findings for the consideration of the Town Council: 
 

1. The proposed zoning is consistent with the Town of Florence 2020 
General Plan.   

 
2. The 2020 General Plan has the Downtown Mixed Use (DMU) designation 

on the site that supports the mix of land uses while respecting the value of 
the historic area. 

 
3. The future development of the site will be subject to all applicable Town 

codes. 
 

4. Access to the site has been established and will be appropriate for the 
proposed use. 

 
PUBLIC PARTICIPATION: 
 
A notice for the Planning and Zoning Commission public hearing was mailed to 
all property owners within three hundred (300) feet of the site.  Property posting 
for notice of public hearings was posted on site and advertisements in the local 
Town paper per the Town requirements.  Under Arizona Revised Statutes, Title 
9, Section-462.04 and Town of Florence Development Code, a public hearing is 
required for a Zone Change.  
 
Staff notes that as of this writing, no public comments have been received. 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission/Town Council meeting schedule for this 
application is as follows: 
 
   October 17, 2013                Planning and Zoning Public Hearing 
 
* November 18, 2013 Town Council Public Hearing and 1st 

Reading 
 
 * December 2, 2013   Town Council and 2nd Reading/Action 
 
All meetings will be held at Town Hall Council Chambers – 775 North Main 
Street, Florence, Arizona 85132. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
This Zone Change will have no financial impact to the Town of Florence, other 
than to support the existing and ongoing commercial use and development of the 
subject site. 
 
 



 

Ordinance No. 603-13 Old West Bail Bonds/Amazing RC Hobbies  Zone Change  PZC-15-13-ZC 
November 18, 2013 

Page 4 of 4 

RECOMMENDATION: 
 
The Planning and Zoning Commission found that the Zone Change for Old West 
Bail Bonds/Amazing RC Hobbies (PZC-15-13-ZC) is in compliance with the 
Town’s General Plan and is in the interest of general welfare, health and safety 
of the public. The Planning and Zoning Commission has forwarded a unanimous 
favorable recommendation on the Old West Bail Bonds/Amazing RC Hobbies 
Zone Change to the Mayor and Town Council, subject to the following conditions:  
 
1. The development of the subject site, as described in Exhibit A attached, shall 

be in conformance to any applicable Town Codes, Ordinances and Building 
Codes.  
 

2. Property Owners agree to waive claims for diminution in value pursuant to 
Proposition 207 [A.R.S. § 12-1134] pursuant to the waivers attached hereto 
as Exhibit B. 

3. Any additional conditions deemed necessary by the Town Council. 

 
Public hearing and first reading on November 18, 2013.  
 
On December 2, 2013, motion to adopt Ordinance No. 603-13 for the Old West 
Bail Bonds/Hobby Shop Zone Change. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Ordinance No. 603-13 
Exhibit A Legal Description 
Exhibit B 207 Waiver 
Application 



 
ORDINANCE NO.  603-13 

 
AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL 
COUNTY, ARIZONA, APPROVING A ZONE CHANGE ON THE 
OLD WEST BAIL BONDS/AMAZING RC HOBBIES PROPERTY, 
LOCATED AT 375 EAST BUTTE AVENUE, AKA, APN 202-03-
001 (PZC-15-13-ZC).   

 
WHEREAS, a request to change the existing zoning on the subject 

property from Neighborhood Office (NO) to Neighborhood Business (B-1) Zoning  
has been proposed and a public hearing has been held by the Planning and 
Zoning Commission; and 

 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has found the Zone 

Change is in conformance with the Town’s General Plan; and 
 
WHEREAS, the Planning and Zoning Commission has forwarded the 

Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence a favorable recommendation for the 
Zone Change, subject to certain conditions; and 

 
WHEREAS, said proposal has been considered by the Mayor and Council 

of the Town of Florence and the recommended Zone Change has been found to 
be appropriate and further found to promote the health, safety and welfare of the 
residents of the Town and its orderly growth. 
 

NOW, THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED by the Mayor and Council of the 
Town of Florence, Arizona, as follows: 
 
The Zoning Map of Florence Arizona is hereby amended by changing the zoning 
classification of the parcel of land depicted on EXHIBIT A attached hereto, from 
Neighborhood Office (NO) to Neighborhood Business (B-1), subject to the 
following conditions: 
 
1. The development of the subject site, as described in Exhibit A attached, shall 

be in conformance to any applicable Town Codes, Ordinances and Building 
Codes. 
 

2. Property Owners agree to waive claims for diminution in value pursuant to 
Proposition 207 [A.R.S. § 12-1134] pursuant to the waivers attached hereto 
as Exhibit B. 

 
 

 



 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence, 
Arizona, this ___ day of _______, 2013. 

 

      ______________________________ 
      Tom J. Rankin, Mayor 

ATTEST:                                             APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
 
___________________________ ______________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk   James E. Mannato, Town Attorney 
 
 
 
 



202-03-2460
202-03-2370

202-03-0380202-03-039A

20
2-0

3-0
39

C

202-03-2580
202-03-0460 202-03-0450

202-03-039B 202-03-0370
202-03-2590202-03-0470

202-03-2570

202-03-0400 202-03-0440

202-03-0420

20
2-0

3-0
41

0

20
2-0

3-0
36

0

20
2-0

3-0
35

0

202-03-2600

20
2-0

3-0
48

0

202-03-2550202-03-049A

202-03-0030 202-03-266B202-03-006B

202-03-266A

202-03-0040

202-03-0020
202-03-006A

202-03-0050 202-03-0010

202-03-267C

202-03-2650

200-49-0690 200-49-072C

20
0-5

0-0
69

0

20
0-5

0-0
70

0

200-50-0710

20
0-5

0-0
72

A

20
0-5

0-0
72

B

200-50-068D

20
0-4

9-0
71

0

20
0-4

9-0
72

D 200-50-064C200-50-065A

200-50-064B

20
0-5

0-0
67

0

20
0-5

0-0
66

0

20
0-5

0-0
65

B

20
0-5

0-0
65

C 200-50-064A

20
0-5

0-0
73

A

202-03-261A

202-03-261B

200-49-047A

200-49-0490

AGUILAR ST

BUTTE AVE

OR
LA

ND
O

ST

MA
TIL

DA
ST

SA
N

CA
RL

OS
ST

PA
RK

ST

SIL
VE

R 
ST

WA
RN

ER
 ST

CE
NT

ER
 ST

PA
RK

 ST

FL
OR

EN
CE

 ST

This map is created for reference purposes only and is to be used at your own risk.  The Town of Florence makes no warranty as to the accuracy or completeness of the information 
contained in this  map and assumes no liability for any errors or omissions contained therein, nor for any direct, indirect, or consequential damages which may be caused by its use.  
It is the user's responsibility to verify all information conatined herein.                                          BailBondsExhibitA.mxd              TOF GIS  09/05/2013

0 100 200
Feet

´

Exhibit A:  Old West Bail Bonds Zone ChangeExhibit A:  Old West Bail Bonds Zone Change
Town ofTown of
FlorenceFlorence

Bail Bonds Site Parcel Lines











 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM

AGENDA ITEM 
6c. 

MEETING DATE:  November 18, 2013 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Administration 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  Jess Knudson 
                                     Assistant Town Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Presentation on the 2014 Citizen Survey  
                   Questionnaire  

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

Subject;  2014 Citizen Survey Questionnaire                                             Meeting Date:  November 18, 2013 
Page 1 of 2 

RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
Presentation on the 2014 Citizen Survey Questionnaire.  
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
The Town began sending out citizen surveys in 2006.  The surveys are used to collect 
comprehensive information about our residents as a whole, gauge the perception of the 
public on the community and Town services, as well as collect the thoughts from the 
public on upcoming Town and Town Council decisions. 
 
Since the Town has sent out the surveys, we have received incredible interest from the 
residents.  The national average for these types of surveys to be returned is 
approximately 25%.  In contrast, we consistently receive more than 40% of the surveys 
back from the residents.  This shows us that our residents want to participate in a 
process that allows them to voice their opinions on the community and the activities of 
the Town.  
 
Surveys are not sent to every household.  Instead, surveys are sent to a random 
sample of households.  Based on our existing population, we need approximately 400 
surveys returned from the public to provide us with a sample size that scientifically 
represents the total population of Florence at a 95% confidence interval, or a 5% margin 
of error.  
 
The attached survey will be mailed to 1,100 random households in Florence in mid-
December.  Survey participants will have six weeks to return the survey to the Town.  It 
will then take staff approximately six weeks to collect, analyze and prepare the results 
for a presentation at an upcoming Town Council meeting.  
 
Staff is interested in any questions that the Town Council may want to include in the 
survey. 
 
 



Subject;  2014 Citizen Survey Questionnaire                                             Meeting Date:  November 18, 2013 
Page 2 of 2 

 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
The cost of materials to send and receive the citizen surveys is approximately $1,500.  
This cost estimate does not include staff time.  
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
There is no staff recommendation or need for formal Town Council action. 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
2014 Citizen Survey Questionnaire 
 



Town of Florence 
 2014 Citizen Survey

1. How would you describe Florence as a place to live?

Excellent Good Average Poor Very Poor

2. Do you feel safe and secure in your neighborhood?

Very Safe Safe Average Unsafe Very Unsafe

3. Overall, do you feel you are getting adequate value  for your Town tax dollar?

Excellent Good Average Poor Very Poor Not Sure

4.

Excellent Good Average Poor
Very 
Poor

Don't 
Know

Small town feel 1 2 3 4 5 6
Friendly people 1 2 3 4 5 6
Beautiful scenery 1 2 3 4 5 6
Amount of crime 1 2 3 4 5 6
Parks 1 2 3 4 5 6
Climate 1 2 3 4 5 6
Job opportunities 1 2 3 4 5 6
Quiet 1 2 3 4 5 6
Historical character 1 2 3 4 5 6
Shopping opportunities 1 2 3 4 5 6
Growing community 1 2 3 4 5 6

5.

Crime 1 2 3 4 5 6
Drugs 1 2 3 4 5 6
Too much growth 1 2 3 4 5 6
Lack of growth 1 2 3 4 5 6
Unkept buildings 1 2 3 4 5 6
Taxes 1 2 3 4 5 6
Traffic congestion 1 2 3 4 5 6
Unsupervised youth 1 2 3 4 5 6
Homelessness 1 2 3 4 5 6
Weeds 1 2 3 4 5 6

6. Does the Town provide adequate information to its r esidents?

Yes, information IS adequate No, information IS NOT adequate

Rate the following as they apply to living in Flore nce. (please circle your answer)

To what extent, if any, do you see the following as  a problem in Florence? (Please circle)

Not a 
Problem

Minor 
Problem Average

Moderate 
Problem

Major 
Problem

Don't 
Know



7.

Fire Services     Excellent

Firefighter attitude and behavior 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Emergency response time 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Non-emergency response time 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Use of education to prevent fires 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Professionalism of the Fire Department 1    2    3    4    5    NE

Park and Recreation Services     Excellent

Fitness Center 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Quality of recreational programs 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Variety of recreational programs 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Recreational facilities (example: parks, baseball field) 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Parks maintenance 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Maintenance of downtown Florence 1    2    3    4    5    NE

Police and Court Services                                                                                                                          Excellent

Officer attitude and behavior 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Emergency response time 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Non-emergency response time 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Professionalism of the Police Department 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Service provided by dispatch 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Service provided by records request staff 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Professionalism of Courts personnel 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Professionalism of Town Attorney/Prosecutor 1    2    3    4    5    NE

Street, Water and Sanitation Services     Excellent

Garbage pickup 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Street repair and maintenance 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Water taste 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Storm water drainage 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Water pressure 1    2    3    4    5    NE

Senior Center Services     Excellent

Hours of operation 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Professionalism of senior center employees 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Quality of programming 1    2    3    4    5    NE

Library Services     Excellent

Selection of books, periodicals and other materials 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Hours of operation 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Professionalism of library employees 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Quality of programming 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Functionality of library building 1    2    3    4    5    NE

General Services and Communication     Excellent

Professional manner of individuals answering Town phones 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Town Hall office hours 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Channel 11 (Town's government channel - available only on cable TV) 1    2    3    4    5    NE
Town website (www.florenceaz.gov) 1    2    3    4    5    NE

8. Overall, rate the quality of services provided by the Town. 1    2    3    4    5    NE
9. Overall, rate the quality of services provided by the County. 1    2    3    4    5    NE
10. Overall, rate the quality of services provided by the State. 1    2    3    4    5    NE
11. Overall, rate the quality of services provided by the Federal Government. 1    2    3    4    5    NE

                    Very Poor

                    Very Poor

                    Very Poor

                    Very Poor

Town Services:  The following are services provided by the Town.  
Please rate your satisfaction with each of the services listed.  The scale is from 1 to 5 (1 being the best 
and 5 being the worst).  If you have no experience with the service in the past 12 months or have no 
opinion, select NE (No Experience).  Please circle your answer. 

                    Very Poor

                    Very Poor

                    Very Poor



12. In the last 6 months, have you had any contact with  a Town of Florence employee?

Yes No Don't Know

12b. If yes, what was your impression of the LAST Town e mployee you were in contact with?

Good Poor Don't Know
Responsive 1 2 3 4 6
Knowledgeable 1 2 3 4 6
Courteous 1 2 3 4 6
Overall 1 2 3 4 6

13.

Excellent Good Average Poor Very Poor Not Sure

14. Who provides your water and wastewater services?

Town of Florence Johnson Utilities Not Sure

15. Do you use Facebook or Twitter Internet sites regul arly (at least twice a month)?

Facebook Twitter Both Neither

16.

Yes No Not Sure

17. Who provides your TV services?

Cox Dish DirectTV Other I don't watch TV

18. Is the TV you watch the most at home a flat screen or a tube style TV?

Flat Screen Tube Not Sure

19.

Yes No Not Sure

20.

Yes No Not Sure

21. Should the Town support the incorporation efforts o f San Tan Valley?

Yes No Not Sure

22.

Yes No Not Sure

23.

Yes No Not Sure

24.

Yes No Not Sure

Are you satisfied with the trash and recycling serv ices provided by Right Away Disposal (RAD)?

Do you subscribe to the Florence News Email Alerts?   (www.florenceaz.gov)

Currently, a private company provides ambulance ser vice to residents in Florence.  Are you in favor 
of the Town of Florence Fire Department providing t his service and collecting a user fee?

Are you supportive of the Town's actions to annex t he Magic Ranch, Crestfield Manor and Wild 
Horse Estates areas?  

Should the Town of Florence spend money on the rest oration of historic buildings in the 
downtown?

5

Should a medical marijuana dispensary be allowed to  open in the Town of Florence?

How would you rate the actions of the Town Council in 2013?

Excellent Average Very Poor
5
5
5



25. How long have you lived in Florence?

I have lived in Florence for  ______ years. 

26.

Full-time Self employed
Part-time Retired

27. Where do you work?

I work at home Casa Grande
I am unemployed / retired
Florence
Coolidge Other ______________________

28. What is your marital status?

Single Married

29.

1 3 5
2 4 6 or more

30. What is your gender?

Male Female

31. What is your age?

I am ______ years old. 

32. What is the highest level of education you have completed?

Some High School Associate's Degree Masters Degree
High School Other Professional Degree PhD

Bachelor's Degree Other

33. Are you registered to vote in Arizona?

Yes No Don't know

34. Are you a permanent (all year) resident of Florence?

No, I live in Florence for ____ months Other

35. Where in Florence do you live?

Downtown Area Anthem Area Florence Gardens Area Other ______________

Please place any comments below.  You can include comments on a separate sheet of paper.        
(any foul language or personal attacks will not be included in the final report) 

Yes, I live in Florence all year

Phoenix Area
Tucson Area

Are you employed?

How many people reside in your household?

Disabled/Unable to work

Some College, no degree

Thank you for taking the time to complete this survey! 
 Mail Completed Survey to: Town of Florence; Citizen Survey; PO Box 2670; Florence, AZ 85132 4



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM

AGENDA ITEM 
7a. 

MEETING DATE:  November 18, 2013 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Utilities Department  
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  John V. Mitchell, Utilities Director 
 
SUBJECT:    Approval to Construct and Sample Point of 
Compliance Well at South Wastewater Treatment Plant 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

Subject:  Sample Point of Compliance Well at South WWTP                           Meeting Date:  November 18, 2013 
Page 1 of 1 

RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
Motion to approve the construction and sampling of Point of Compliance well (POC #3) 
at the south wastewater treatment plant. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
In August 2013 the Town of Florence entered into a Consent Order with the Arizona 
Department of Environmental Quality (ADEQ) agreeing to correct violations to the 
Aquifer Protection Permit and Arizona Pollution Discharge Elimination Permit for the 
South Wastewater Treatment Plant. The violations included the failure to construct a 
new Point of Compliance (POC) monitor well and exceedances of total residual 
chlorine. A new compliance schedule was attached to the Consent Order, and the Town 
is on track to meet the deadlines of the new schedule. 
 
Water Works Engineering is currently contracted with the Town to provide general 
engineering services. Water Works Engineering has sub-contracted with Southwest 
Ground-Water Consultants, Inc. (SWG) to design and install the new monitoring well. 
SWG sought to obtain three bids from three drilling contractors. Two bids were 
received. The lowest bid was for the amount of $29,170. The total cost for the project is 
approximately $54,000 and includes the drilling of the POC monitoring well, ambient 
groundwater sampling, ambient groundwater analysis, and reporting. 
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
The cost to construct a new POC monitor well, sample and analyze ambient 
groundwater, and report findings to ADEQ is approximately $54,000. Funds are 
available in the Town of Florence Sewer Fund, line item 52-575-217 (professional 
services). 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
Staff recommends approval of the construction and sampling of a new POC monitoring 
well. 









































































 

TOWN OF FLORENCE 
COUNCIL ACTION FORM

AGENDA ITEM 
8a.  

MEETING DATE:  November 18, 2013 
 
DEPARTMENT:  Administration 
 
STAFF PRESENTER:  James Mannato, Town Attorney 
                                     Jess Knudson, Asst. Town Manager 
 
SUBJECT: Ordinance No. 604-13: Update to Chapter 52 of  
                   the Florence Town Code pertaining to Sanitation   
                   Services.  
 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 

Subject:  Ordinance No. 604-13 Chapter 52 of Town Code/ Sanitation Svcs        Meeting Date:  November 18, 2013 
Page 1 of 2 

RECOMMENDED MOTION/ACTION: 
 
First Reading of Ordinance No. 604-13:   AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF 
FLORENCE, PINAL COUNTY, ARIZONA, AMENDING TITLE V, CHAPTER 52, “SOLID 
WASTE”. 
 
BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
An update to the Florence Town Code is needed since the last revision occurred in 
2004.  The Sanitation Chapter identifies the rules and regulations for the providers and 
customers of the sanitations services provided by the Town.   
 
This item is an update to the Sanitation Chapter in the Florence Town Code and is 
unrelated to the existing contract with RAD.  
 
Highlights of Chapter 52 include: 

 All Town residents are required to participate in the sanitation system (exclusions 
apply for seasonal residents or residents out of town for an extended period of 
time). 

 
 Trash cannot be placed in the alleys. 

 
 Types of materials that are and are not collected.   

 
 Bulk Trash items must be placed out within 48 hours of pickup. 

 
 Trash and recycling containers, and bulk trash must be placed out in a manner 

that does not impede pedestrian or vehicle traffic.   
 

 Illegal dumping. 
 



Subject:  Ordinance No. 604-13 Chapter 52 of Town Code/ Sanitation Svcs        Meeting Date:  November 18, 2013 
Page 2 of 2 

FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
There is no financial impact associated with this item. 
 
STAFF RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Adopt Ordinance No. 604-13 
 
ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Ordinance No. 604-13 
 
 



 
ORDINANCE     -13 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, ARIZONA 
AMENDING TITLE V, CHAPER 52, “SOLID WASTE”. 

 

WHEREAS, it has been brought to the attention of the Common Council of the 
Town of Florence that it would be desirable and further the efficiency of the Finance and 
Public Works Departments to amend certain provisions of the Town’s solid waste 
regulations.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that Title V, Chapter 52 of the Code 
of the Town of Florence is hereby amended by striking, deleting or adding the following 
provisions: 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
§ 52.001  TITLE. 

   This Chapter shall be known as the “Solid Waste Ordinance of the Town of Florence”. 
It may be cited as such or as the “Florence Sanitation Code”. It may also be referred to 
hereinafter as “this Chapter”. 

 
§ 52.002  PURPOSE AND SCOPE. 

  A. Purpose. 

The purpose of this Chapter is to protect the health and safety of the citizens of the Town 
and to protect the environment by establishing minimum standards for the storage, 
collection, treatment, transportation, processing and disposal of solid waste. In addition, 
to set rates charged by the Town for its solid waste program and its inspection, collection 
and disposal services, so as to recover the Town’s costs to provide such services. 

B. Collection Required. 

Solid waste collections shall be made by the Town or by collection companies as 
authorized by the Town. Except as provided in subsections (C) and (D) of the section, all 
persons and properties within the Town are required to use the solid waste collection 
system of the Town, to haul, carry or transport solid waste through the streets and 
highways of the Town. All persons and occupied property shall use and be responsible 
for at least the minimum level of solid waste collection service and the associated charges 
and fees for residential, institutional or commercial service, as applicable, unless 
exempted from such requirements under this subsection or subsection (C) of this section. 
It shall be unlawful to dump or store solid waste, recyclable, or yard waste materials in 

Formatted: Left:  1", Right:  1.5"



violation of the provisions of this Chapter. The Town shall automatically bill the 
residential or commercial customer for such minimum level of service if the customer 
does not sign up for service within thirty (30) days of occupying a property in the Town. 
Upon satisfactory evidence that a residential customer owns a business in the Town that 
has a commercial solid waste collection service, the Director may in his discretion 
approve an exemption from the mandatory solid waste  collection service and payment 
requirements of this section.  

C. Commercial Permitted Hauler. 

Those commercial and industrial business establishments having prior established 
permits to haul their own waste may continue to haul such solid waste by annual permit. 
Renewal permits shall be issued upon application and payment of the annual permit fee. 
Any permit holder, as provided for in this subsection, shall haul solid waste at least once 
a week for public health reasons. 

D. Self-haul. 

This section does not prohibit the limited and occasional hauling of solid waste, 
recyclable materials, or yard wastes by a customer from their property to an approved 
Town solid waste, recyclables, or yard waste collection site. However, occasional haulers 
are not exempt from the mandatory solid waste collection service and payment 
requirements above and are responsible for the fees for collection site services, if any.  

E. Penalty. 

Violations of the provisions of this section are punishable as provided in § 52.999(B)(2) 
of this Chapter. 

 
52.003  POWERS AND DUTIES OF THEPUBLIC WORKS DIRECTOR. 

   The Director, in order to protect the health and safety of the citizens and the 
environment of the Town, is authorized and directed to implement and enforce the 
provisions of this Chapter to control the storage, collection, treatment, transportation, 
processing and disposal of solid waste generated within the Town. The Director is further 
authorized and directed to provide public solid waste disposal facilities for solid waste 
originating within the Town. Nothing in this Chapter is intended or shall be construed so 
as to infringe or supplant the authority of the Pinal County Health Department, the State 
Department of Health Services, State Department of Environmental Quality or the United 
States Environmental Protection Agency in this area pursuant to federal and state laws. 

 
52.004  HOURS OF COLLECTION. 

   (A)   The hours for collection of solid waste or recyclables by private and municipal 
collectors shall be regulated by the Director. In order to prohibit the disturbance of the 
public, it shall be unlawful to collect or remove solid waste or recyclables between the 
hours of 65:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. In the event of a missed collection or other unusual 



circumstances, reasonable accommodations may be approved by the Director if  a request 
is made by a person authorized to collect solid waste in the Town. 

   (B)   For purposes of this section, PRIVATE means any entity other than the Town or a 
collection service authorized by the Town. 

   (C)   All refuse shall be collected as deemed necessary by the Director or designeeof 
Public Works. 

 
52.005  DEFINITIONS. 

   For the purpose of this Chapter, the following definitions shall apply unless the context 
indicates or requires a different meaning. 

   ALLEY.  A public passageway affording a secondary means of access to abutting 
property for utility and, emergency and solid waste vehicles. 

   ASHES.  All residue from the burning of any combustible material but does not include 
ashes from medical waste, hazardous wastes or special waste. 

   AUTOMATED CONTAINED SOLID WASTE COLLECTION SYSTEM.  A 
contained solid waste collection system that utilizes Town specified solid waste 
containers and a solid waste collection vehicle equipped with a lifting device. 

 BIN SYSTEM.  A contained solid waste collection system that utilizes large metal 
containers varying in size. 

 BULK TRASH.  Bulk trash means those items as defined in § 52.048(G). 

 COLLECTOR.  The municipality or its authorized representative. 

 COMMERCIAL CONTAINERS.  A solid waste container for use by a commercial user. 

 COMMERCIAL SERVICE UNIT.  Any building, structure or premises not defined as a 
RESIDENTIAL SERVICE UNIT  or an INSTITUTIONAL SERVICE UNIT in this 
section. 

    COMPACTOR OR ROLL-OFF SYSTEM.  A contained solid waste collection system 
that uses a stationary solid waste compactor and compactor bins or open top roll-off 
boxes. 

   COMPOSTING.  A controlled condition under which organic material decomposes or 
stabilizes. 

   CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION SOLID WASTE.  All solid waste, building 
materials, rubble, soil and spoils resulting from construction, remodeling, repair and 
demolition operations. 

   CONTAINED SOLID WASTE.  All garbage and trash generated and placed in 
containers for disposal. 



   CONTAMINATED LOAD.  Any load containing prohibited materials. 

   DEPARTMENT.  The Town of Florence Public Works Department. 

   DDIRECTOR.  The Town ManagerPublic Works Director or designee. 

 DWELLING UNIT. Any structure or structures used primarily for human habitation by 
one or more persons. 

FLY-TIGHT.  The lid of the container must fit flush around all contact points and 
prevent entry of flies or rodents. 

   GGARBAGE.  All putrescible waste, except sewage and body waste, including waste 
accumulated of animals, food or vegetable matter, and including waste that attends the 
preparation, use, cooking, dealing in or storing of meat, fish, fowl, fruit and vegetable, 
and shall include all the wastes or accumulations or vegetable matter of residence, 
restaurants, hotels and places where food is prepared for human consumption. The term 
GARBAGE shall not include recognized industrial byproducts. Swill, offal and any 
accumulation of spoiled, partially or fully decomposed, rotting or discarded animal, 
vegetable or other matter that attends the preparation, handling, consumption, storage or 
decay of plant and animal matter including meats, fish, fowl, buds, fruits, vegetables or 
dairy products and their waste wrappers or containers. 

   GVW; GROSS VEHICLE WEIGHT.  Weight of vehicle plus load and driver of the 
vehicle used to determine fees for Town of Florence solid waste disposal services. 

   HAZARDOUS WASTE.  Any waste so defined by the provisions of A.R.S. Title 49, 
Chapter 5, Art. 2 and 40 C.F.R. part 261 and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB's). 

   HOT LOAD.  Any vehicle carrying solid waste observed to be smoldering, smoking, 
on fire, giving off toxic odor, or leaking a potentially caustic substance. 

   HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE.  Any waste that would otherwise be a 
hazardous waste pursuant to A.R.S., Title 49, Chapter 5, Art. 2, and 40 C.F.R. part 261 
but is excluded as a hazardous waste because it is generated by the normal day-to-day 
activities of households. 

   IMMINENT HEALTH or SAFETY HAZARD.  Condition of real property, solid 
waste or recycling container that places a persons life, health, safety or property in high 
risk of peril when the condition is immediate, impending on the point of happening and 
menacing. 

   INCIPIENT HAZARD.  Condition of real property that can become an imminent or 
health hazard if further deterioration occurs that can cause unreasonable risk of death or 
severe personal injury. 

INSTITUTIONAL SERVICE UNIT.  Institutional Service Unit shall mean any school or 
educational facility; any government building or facility whether belonging to the Town 
of Florence, Pinal County, the State of Arizona or the United States; any jail or prison 
facility whether privately or publicly owned; any religious institution; any publicly 
owned medical facility and the buildings and facilities of any nonprofit organization. 



 INDUSTRIAL SOLID WASTE.  Any SOLID WASTE as defined in this section, 
produced as a result of any industrial operation. 

   INFECTIOUS SOLID WASTE.  Any material which presents a significant danger of 
infection because it is contaminated with or may reasonably be expected to be 
contaminated with agents which cause or significantly contribute to the cause of 
increased infection or infectious disease in human beings. 

   INSPECTOR.  The authorized employee or employees of the municipality having the 
duty of the enforcement of this Chapter. 

   LARGE ANIMAL WASTE.  Refuse including feces and/or discarded bedding or 
flooring materials such as straw, sawdust or other materials from yards, pens, corrals, 
stables or other containment for domestic animals such as cattle, horses and/or other 
domestic or permitted wild animals larger than 150 pounds. 

   MANUAL SOLID WASTE COLLECTION SYSTEM.  A solid waste collection 
system that uses manual labor to load solid waste into a collection vehicle. 

   MANUAL SOLID WASTE COLLECTION FEE.  Fees charged for manual collection 
and/or disposal services. 

   MATERIAL RECOVERY FACILITY.  A site used for the collection, storage and 
processing of recyclables. 

   MEDICAL SOLID WASTE.  Consists of human or animal tissue, any part of a human 
or animal body that has been removed by surgery and any contaminated material such as, 
but not limited to, facial tissues, bandages and hypodermic needles. 

   MOBILE HOME DEVELOPMENT.  A subdivision designed for mobile homes in 
which the lots are individually owned. 

   MOBILE HOME PARK.  Property owned and operated for the purpose of leasing or 
renting out mobile home space to tenants. 

   MULTI-FAMILY DWELLING UNITS.  A building or buildings attached to each 
other and containing two or more dwelling units. This term is intended to apply to 
dwelling unit types such as duplex, triplex, four-plex and apartments. 

   NONCOMBUSTIBLE SOLID WASTE.  Consists of miscellaneous solid waste 
materials that are unburnable at ordinary incinerator operating temperatures (up to 
2,000°F) and is in the inorganic component of solid waste. 

   NON-HAZARDOUS LIQUID WASTE.  All liquid waste defined as non-hazardous 
liquid waste by the State Department of Environmental Quality. 

   NONPROFIT ORGANIZATIONAGENCIES.  Any entity recognized by the Internal 
Revenue Service as having § 501(C)(3) status, or other tax exempt organizations however 
described. 



   OOBNOXIOUS MATERIALS.  Any solid waste that, when exposed, is unpleasant or 
offensive to the senses due to its odor or condition. 

   OWNER.  A person, persons or legal entity listed as current title holder as recorded in 
the official records of the County Recorder's office. OWNER and OCCUPANT may be 
used interchangeably and shall mean every person in possession, charge or in control of 
any dwelling, flat, rooming house or any eating place, shop, place or business 
establishment where garbage or other refuse is created or accumulated. 

   PATHOGENIC LIQUID or SOLID WASTE.  Any liquid or solid waste causing or 
capable of causing disease. 

   PERSON.  Any natural person; any corporation, partnership or other legal entity; and 
the United States, State of Arizona, County of Pinal and Town of Florence. 

   PLACEMENT DATE.  The first day of the scheduled collection period, as established 
and published by the Director. 

   PPREMISES.  Land, building or other structures, or parts thereof, where solid waste is 
stored or accumulated. 

   PRIVATE SOLID WASTE COLLECTION HAULERS.  Solid waste collection 
services owned and operated by private individuals or corporations holding a business 
license issued by the Town. 

   PUBLIC BUILDINGS.  All buildings or structured owned or leased by governmental 
agencies and used for the purpose of conducting public business. 

   PUBLIC NUISANCE.  Anything which is injurious or obnoxious to health, or is 
offensive to the senses, or is an obstruction to the free use of property, so as to interfere 
with the comfortable enjoyment of life or property by any considerable number of 
persons, or which obstruct the free passage or use, in the customary manner, of any street, 
alley, sidewalk or public property. 

   PUTRESCIBLE SOLID WASTE.  Solid waste which is capable of being decomposed 
by microorganisms with sufficient rapidity as to cause nuisances from odors or gases and 
capable of providing food for or attracting birds, insects, snakes, rodents or animals 
capable of transferring a diseased bacterium or virus from one organism to another. 

   RECYCLABLES.  Any solid waste that has been separated from other solid waste for 
the purpose of being collected and recycled. 

   RECYCLING CONTAINER.  A receptacle used exclusively for the storage of 
recyclables until they are collected. 

   REFRIGERANTS.  Chlorofluorocarbon (CFC) and hydrochloroflourocarbons 
(HCFC). 

   REFUSE.  Solid wastes, including garbage and rubbish. 



RESIDENTIAL SERVICE UNIT.  Any single family or multi-family dwelling unit; any 
apartment building or apartment complex; any townhouse or condominium; and any 
other building or structure regardless of type which is used primarily for human 
habitation. Residential Service Unit does not include facilities for the detention or 
incarceration of prisoners. 

 RESPONSIBLE PARTY.  An occupant, lessor, lessee, manager, licensee, owner or 
other person having control over a structure or parcel of land and in the case where 
remediation is proposed as a means of abatement, any lien holder whose lien interest is 
recorded in the official records of the County Recorder's office. 

   RUBBISH.  Refuse other than garbage, tin cans, bottles, ashes, paper, pasteboard or 
wooden boxes, brush, leaves, weeds and cuttings from trees, lawns, shrubs and gardens or 
other waste materials produced in the normal course of everyday living. 

   SCHOOLS.  All public and private buildings used for pre-school, elementary, 
specialized or higher education purposes. 

   SMALL ANIMAL WASTE.  Refuse including feces and/or discarded bedding or 
flooring materials such as straw, sawdust or paper from yards, kennels, dog or cat runs, 
chicken pens, aviaries or other containment for domestic animals such as dogs, cats, fowl 
such as birds, chickens, ducks, geese or other tame or permitted wild animals under 150 
pounds. 

   SOLID WASTE.  Any garbage, bulk trash, yard waste and other materials or products, 
including putrescible and non-putrescible wastes, organic and inorganic wastes, 
combustible and noncombustible wastes and liquid non-hazardous waste, but not 
including hazardous waste or human body parts. 

   SOLID WASTE CONTAINER.  A receptacle used exclusively for the storage of solid 
waste, excluding construction and demolition solid waste until it is collected. 

   SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL FACILITY.  Any site owned, operated or utilized by any 
person for the collection, source separation, storage, transportation, transfer, processing, 
treatment or disposal of solid waste. 

   SOLID WASTE FEE.  A fee assessed by the Town of Florence for solid waste services 
provided by the Public Works Department and associated functions. 

   TARE WEIGHT.  Empty weight of vehicle with driver. 

   TTIRE.  Is a tire used on vehicles, trailers, machinery or equipment used on or off the 
road, excluding bicycles and mopeds. 

   TOWN OF FLORENCE.  The Town of Florence, Arizona. 

   VOLUME BASED SERVICE FEE.  Fees charged for collection and/or disposal 
services based on quantity. 

   WATERTIGHT.  The lid of the container must fit flush around all contact points and 
prevent entry of rain. 



   WASTE.  Unwanted solid, liquid or gaseous materials. 

   YARD WASTE.  Branches, palm fronds, twigs, weeds, leaves, grass and vegetation 
clippings. 

 
§ 52.006  UNAUTHORIZED USE OF REFUSE COLLECTION SYSTEM 
UNLAWFUL. 

   There is hereby established a system of refuse collection, transportation and disposal 
and it shall be unlawful for any person to dump or dispose of any rubbish or garbage 
within the limits of the Town exceptingting in the refuse container assigned to them or 
owned by them as an owner or occupant of a premises located in the Town, or as 
otherwise permitted in this Chapter. It shall also be unlawful to engage in the business of 
residential or institutional collection, transportation, hauling or conveying of solid waste 
over the streets or alleys of the municipality or to dump or dispose of the same except by 
the Town or its authorized collection services. 

 
§ 52.007 REFUSE ACCUMULATION UNLAWFUL. 

   It shall be unlawful for any person to accumulate or permit to accumulate in or about 
any yard, lot, place or premises, or upon any street, alley or sidewalk adjacent to such lot, 
yard, place or premises, any solid waste, garbage or refuse that is not contained as 
required by this Chapter.   

 
SOLID WASTE CONTAINMENT 

 
§ 52.020  INSPECTION OF CONTAINERS. 

   Provisions shall be made for regular inspections, by the Solid Waste Division of the 
Public Works Department to secure compliance with this Chapter with reference to 
containment of solid waste or recyclables. The Director shall have the right to enter 
commercial, industrial and institutional establishments for inspection purposes. 

 
§ 52.021  RESPONSIBILITY FOR SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLABLES. 

   (A)   The responsible party of any premises or business establishment shall be 
responsible for their solid waste or recyclables until the solid waste or recyclables are 
collected by the Town of Florence agents of the Town of Florence or licensed solid waste 
haulers. 

   (B)   The responsible party of any premises, business establishment or industry shall be 
responsible or the sanitary conditions of the premises, business establishment or industry, 
and for the proper storage, containment and placement for collection of all solid waste 
and recyclables. Except as provided in this Chapter, it shall be a violation for any person 



to bury, dump, dispose or release upon any street, alley, right-of-way or public land, any 
solid waste or recyclables, including construction and demolition solid waste and tires. 

 
§ 52.022  ILLEGAL DUMPING OF SOLID WASTE; PENALTY. 

   (A)   It shall be a violation for any person to dump, dispose or release, or cause to be 
dumped, disposed or released, any solid waste, garbage, bulk waste or refuse, including 
hazardous waste, upon any street, alley, right-of-way, public or private property within 
the Town of Florence except as specifically permitted in this Chapter. 

   (B)   In addition to any penalties imposed pursuant to § 52.999(B), a person in violation 
of subsection (A) above shall make restitution to the Town of Florence for all cleanup 
and disposal costs incurred by the Town of Florence. 

   (C)   If issuing a notice of violation of this provision involves a vehicle, the person in 
whose name the vehicle is registered shall be prima facie responsible for the violation and 
subject to penalties described in this Chapter. 

   (D)   The provisions of this section shall apply to those persons in whose names the 
vehicle is jointly registered. The person shall jointly and severally prima facie responsible 
for such a violation and subject to the penalties therefore.  

 
§ 52.023  HOUSEHOLD MEDICAL AND INFECTIOUS WASTE. 

   All household medical and infectious solid waste including lancets, syringes and 
hypodermic needles must be properly contained before disposing of in the solid waste 
container. Household and infectious waste must be placed in plastic bags and securely 
tied before placing in the solid waste container. Lancets, syringes and hypodermic 
needles must be placed in a rigid, leak-proof and puncture resistant container with a 
secured and taped lid and must be clearly labeled identifying the contents before placing 
in the solid waste container. Depositing or disposing of household medical and infectious 
waste or lancets, syringes and hypodermic needles in any recycling container is 
prohibited. 

 
§ 52.024  ANIMAL WASTE. 

   (A)   Wastes from animals and pets shall be removed and disposed of in the manner 
prescribed and as often as necessary to prevent occurrence of a nuisance or health and 
safety hazard. 

   (B)   Small animal waste from typical domestic pets such as dogs and cats shall be 
placed in a plastic bag, securely tied and placed in a solid waste container. 

   (C)   Large animal waste from animals such as horses and livestock may be collected 
for a different and separate fee using an alternate collection method. 



   (CD)   All animal owners and custodians shall immediately clean up and properly 
dispose of wastes left by their animals on any public street, alley, gutter, sidewalk, right-
of-way or park. 

 
§ 52.025  UNOBSTRUCTED PASSAGE IN STREETS AND ALLEYS. 

   (A)   It shall be a violation for any person to permit trees, shrubs or brush growing upon 
his or her property to encroach on or over any public right-of-way so as to interfere with 
the movement of persons or vehicles. It is the responsibility of the responsible party to 
trim trees or shrubbery on their property and in the adjacent right-of-way back to their 
property line and allow 13 foot height clearance. 

   (B)   It shall be illegal to have any obstruction, including, but not limited to, parked 
vehicles within 15 feet of a solid waste or recycling container placed out or collection 
service or to obstruct the solid waste and/or recycling collection operations in any other 
manner. 

 
§ 52.026  SOLID WASTE OR RECYCLABLES CONTAINER REQUIREMENTS. 

   (A)   General statement.  The responsible party of any premises, business establishment 
or industry shall be responsible for the sanitary condition of the premises, business 
establishment or industry and for the proper storage, containment and placement for 
collection of all solid waste and recyclables. All solid waste and recyclables shall be 
stored in a manner that does not present a health or safety hazard or public nuisance, 
including, but not limited to the breeding of insects. No person shall place, deposit or 
allow to be placed or deposited on his or her premises or private property or any public 
street, alley or right-of-way any solid waste or recyclables except in a manner prescribed 
in this Chapter. 

   (B)   General requirements. 

      (1)   All responsible parties using or occupying any dwelling unit, commercial, 
industrial or institutional establishment or grounds within the corporate limits of the 
Town of Florence where solid waste and recyclables accumulate, shall contain their solid 
waste and recyclables in watertight and fly-tight containers. 

      (2)   Solid waste shall be stored, collected and hauled for disposal in accordance with 
the State Department of Health Services and State Department of Environmental Quality 
Regulations. 

      (3)   It is the container users' and responsible parties’ responsibility to properly 
contain solid waste or recyclables generated on their premises and to keep the area 
around the container continuously clear and free of all debris. If the property has alley 
solid waste service, the term AREA includes the alley. 

      (4)   A minimum service level of no less than one-fourth cubic yard per dwelling unit, 
collected twice weekly, is required for all residential establishments. One-fourth cubic 



yard is equivalent to 50 United States gallons or one-half of a Town of Florence 96-
gallon curbside collection container. 

      (45)   All solid waste and recycling containers shall be maintained in a sanitary 
condition. Containers shall not be stored or maintained in such a manner as to constitute a 
nuisance, health or safety hazard. 

      (56)   It shall be unlawful for any person not authorized by the responsible party to 
remove, collect or disturb the solid waste and recyclables stored in the containers or to 
remove from a solid waste or recycling container any solid waste or recyclables set out 
for collection and disposal by the Town of Florence or its authorized collection services, 
or licensed commercial solid waste haulers. This prohibition does not apply to Town 
employees or authorized agents of the Townlaw enforcement officers acting within the 
scope of their official duties. 

      (67)   It shall be unlawful for any person to utilize the solid waste or recycling 
containers or receptacles assigned to other persons for the disposal of solid waste or 
recyclables without their permission. This does not apply to the automated solid waste or 
recycling collection system where residents share the use of common containers. 

      (78)   The lids or covers of any solid waste and recycling containers shall at all times 
be kept secure in such a manner to prevent intrusion or moisture, infestation of insects 
and scattering of solid waste or recyclables. Covers shall be kept closed except when 
containers are being loaded or emptied. Each container shall be placed on or adjacent to 
the property of the authorized user at a location approved by the Director. 

      (98)   Location of containers. Containers used for storage of solid waste and 
recyclables shall be placed as follows: 

         (a)   Residential containers shall be located at curbside in front of the residential 
service unit. 

         (b)   No container shall be placed so as to restrict egress from an exit door or 
beneath a fire escape. No container shall be placed under a street floor window unless the 
window is of fire-resistant construction. 

      (109)   Containers place at curbside shall be located in such a manner to not interfere 
with pedestrians or vehicles. 

      ((110)   All boxes, cartons and crates shall be collapsed before being placed in 
containers. Ashes shall be soaked with water to extinguish any live embers and contained 
in tied bags before placement in containers. 

      (112)   Explosive or flammable materials of any kind shall not be placed in any solid 
waste recycling container. 

      (123)   Corrosives, reactives, oxidizers, lead acid batteries or any hazardous waste 
shall not be disposed of in solid waste or recycling containers. 

      (134)   Pool chemical containers shall be emptied, rinsed, drained and moisture free 
prior to being placed in a solid waste or recycling container. 



   (C)   Residential user requirements. 

      (1)   All household solid waste and grass shall be bagged and securely tied before 
being placed in solid waste containers. Solid waste shall be drained of all liquids and tied 
in waterproof bags before being placed in solid waste containers. 

      (2)   Construction and demolition solid waste  shall not be placed in a solid waste or 
recycling container unless generated by the Owner or Occupant of a residential dwelling 
unit. If the construction and demolition solid waste is generated by a contractor, the 
contractorresponsible party is responsible for the removal and disposal of the solid waste. 
All construction and demolition solid waste shall be removed promptly and shall not be 
stored in any location where it may be blown or otherwise dispersed beyond the 
construction site. The Town of Florence may, upon request from the responsible party, 
provide containers for the construction and demolition solid waste for a different and 
separate fee. 

      (3)   It shall be unlawful to place material in any solid waste or recycling container of 
a volume or weight which prevents the collection vehicle from emptying the container or 
which damages the collection vehicle or container. Maximum weight of material placed 
in any 90- to 100-gallon container shall not exceed 200 pounds. Maximum weight of 
material placed in a 300-gallon container shall not exceed 500 pounds. 

 

      (4)   It shall be unlawful for any person not authorized by the Town to utilize, for 
other than its intended purpose, the lid from any solid waste or recycling container. 

   (D)   Commercial user requirements. 

      (1)   The owner or responsible party of any commercial or institutional solid waste or 
recycling container placed on private property or in the Town of Florence right-of-way 
shall be responsible for maintaining the area within a 25-foot radius around the container 
and/or bin in a sanitary condition and prevent scattering or blowing around of materials 
deposited. 

      (2)   Commercial users shall, where the volume of solid waste or recyclables 
accumulated cannot be conveniently handled in cans or bags, provide bins or compactor 
bins for containment of solid waste and/or recyclables. The bins or compactor bins shall 
be constructed of durable non-absorbent, noncombustible material and have suitable fly-
tight and watertight covers. 

      (3)   All commercial and institutional containers shall be placed or concealed in such 
a manner so as to minimize visibility from the street or public walkways. 

      (4)   All solid waste and recycling containers shall be identifiable by indicating the 
owner’s name and telephone number on the container and  shall meet all requirements of 
this Chapter. The container identification must be readable from a minimum distance of 
ten feet. 



      (5)   Commercial users, shall, upon request of the Director, be required to show 
documentation of the method of collection and removal of solid waste and/or recyclables 
generated by the establishment. 

 
§ 52.027  CONDEMNATION OF CONTAINERS; REMOVAL. 

   (A)   If a solid waste or recycling container is in violation and presents a health or 
safety hazard, the Director shall issue a notice of violation to the responsible party. 
Notification shall consist of tagging the solid waste or recycling containers with a notice 
of violation or by delivering a notice in person or by mail to the responsible party. 

   (B)   If action necessary to remedy the violation is not taken within the period specified, 
the Director shall have the right to remove the solid waste or recycling container and 
dispose of it in accordance with and subject to § 52.003. 

 
§ 52.028  RESPONSIBILITY FOR STREETS, ALLEYS AND SIDEWALKS. 

   (A)   The owner and any responsible party in control of any land abutting a sidewalk, 
alley or street shall maintain the sidewalk, alley or street free from any accumulation of 
solid waste. 

   (B)   The areas required to be maintained pursuant to this section are: 

      (1)   Any portion of a street, which has been opened for public use, between the curb 
line and the abutting property line including sidewalks; and 

      (2)   One-half the width of abutting alleys from the property line to the centerline of 
the alley. 

 
§ 52.029  BURNING AND DUMPING UNLAWFUL. 

   No person, whether a resident or non-resident, shall burn, incinerate, bury, dump, 
collect, remove or in any other manner dispose of rubbish or garbage within the limits of 
the municipality, except as provided in this Chapter or as provided in a special permit 
issued by the Pinal County Air Quality Control and the Florence Fire Department. No 
person shall throw, discard or deposit any rubbish or garbage in or upon any street, alley, 
sidewalk or vacant ground, or in or upon any canal, irrigation ditch, drainage ditch or 
other watercourse. 

 

§ 52.030  REFUSE CONTAINERS. 
   (A)   On all new residential construction, each lot or combination of lots shall be 

supplied with an automated refuse container at the expense of the developer or 
subdivision to be owned and maintained by the Town or its authorized collection service, 

as approved by the Director of Public Works. 



   (B)  Existing residential service units shall be provided an automated refuse container 
by the Town or its authorized collection service, which shall maintain the automated 

refuse containers. 
  (C)   All garbage shall, before deposit in any automated refuse container, be wrapped in 

paper or other material so as to prevent the escape of liquids therefrom. 
   (D)   All automated refuse containers shall be kept in a place determined by the 

Director of Public Works to be accessible to the collector. 
   (E)   No tires shall be mixed in with other refuse, but arrangements shall be made with 
the Director of Public Works concerning special containers or special handling pickup 

per the sanitation fees schedule. 
   (F)   The Director of Public Works may, at times for the convenience of the 

municipality, assign a larger container to the owner. 
   (G)   The Director of Public Works shall designate the type of service and/or container 

size to be utilized by each use. 

 
SOLID WASTE COLLECTION 

 
§ 52.045  OWNERSHIP, PLACEMENT AND RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
CONTAINERS. 

   (A)   The frequency of contained solid waste collections shall be in accordance with the 
State Department of Environmental Quality Regulations. 

   (B)   Collection days shall be designated by the Director. 

   (C)   The Director determines the service level required and method of collection. 
Residents may request different levels of service based on service levels and fees 
established in § 52.1001. 

   (D)   The Town or its authorized solid waste collection serviceCollector will specify, 
purchase and own the containers which are provided to the residents, which are to be 
used by residential service units for no other purpose than as solid waste and recycling 
collection containers. 

   (E)    Residents receiving curbside service shall place their containers at the curb in 
front of their residence in such a manner that it allows for the safe and efficient operation 
of the collection vehicle and does not interfere with pedestrian or vehicular traffic. 
Containers shall be placed so that they open towards the street. 

   (F)   Residential lots that cannot be safely or efficiently serviced using the Town's 
standard solid waste equipment will be assessed a different and separate fee as set by the 
Director. Situations where a different and separate fee may apply includes, but is not 
limited to, hillside developments, private streets, dead-end streets without adequate 
turnarounds and multi-family dwelling units. 

   (G)   The Collector Town is responsible for cleaning only shared use containers. The 
responsible party is responsible for cleaning the individual container assigned to their 
property. 



 

   (H)   All containers issued by the Town or its authorized collection service for use in 
conjunction with an automated loading device shall remain the property or the authorized 
service provider. The Town or its authorized collection service is responsible for repairs 
to the  containers when damage is caused during normal usage. Containers shall be 
secured between collection days in such a manner that they are not readily susceptible to 
theft or vandalism. Anyone found to have intentionally or negligently damaged the 
container provided to them shall be liable to pay the replacement or repair cost. 

   (I)   Only the CollectorDirector shall be authorized to remove any solid waste or 
recycling container from its assigned location. It shall be unlawful for any other person to 
remove a container from the address to which it is assigned. 

   (J)   To ensure containers are placed out on time, containers may be placed at the curb 
after 6:00 p.m. on the day preceding collection. Containers for street collection shall be 
placed at the curb for service no later than 5:30 a.m. on the day of collection. They must 
be removed prior to 5:30 a.m. on the day after collection. It shall be unlawful to place or 
permit containers to remain adjacent to the curb except upon regular collection days. 
Containers shall be stored between collection days on the users’ property so as to not 
interfere with pedestrian or vehicular traffic. 

   (L)   Every owner and occupant of premises within the prescribed limits of the Town 
shall use the refuse collecting and disposal system assigned to them,  and they shall 
deposit or cause to be deposited in accordance with this Chapter all rubbish and garbage 
that is of  a nature that it is perishable, may decompose or may be scattered by wind or 
otherwise, which accumulated on their premises. 

 

§ 52.046  MANUAL SOLID WASTE COLLECTION. 
   (A)   The Town of Florence may, at the Director's discretion, utilize a manual solid 
waste collection system for residential collection in areas where automated collection 
vehicles cannot safely or efficiently operate. 
   (B)   All containers for manual collection shall be maintained by the responsible party 
in a sanitary condition and shall be thoroughly cleaned as needed. 
      (1)   Containers shall not be less than ten nor more than 32 gallons capacity each. 
They shall be constructed of galvanized steel, heavy-duty plastic or equivalent material 
with a tight fitting lid or cover and with handles strong enough for lifting and emptying. 
      (2)   Containers shall not be affixed to any attachment such as carts, fences, poles, 
strands or similar objects. Containers shall be removed from underground or enclosed 
receptacles and placed out for collection. 
   (C)   Wet strength plastic bags may be used in lieu of containers. Bags shall have a 
capacity of not less than ten gallons nor more than 32 gallons and be sufficiently strong 
and free from tears and leakage. Bags must be securely tied and not weigh more than 32 
pounds when placed out for collection. 
   (D)   The Director shall determine whether alley or street collection service shall be 
provided and shall designate the collection location. 
 



§ 52.047  RESIDENTIAL, INSTITUTIONAL AND COMMERCIAL 
COLLECTION. 

   (A)   The Town of Florence or its authorized collection service shall provide solid 
waste collection service to all residential servicedwelling units including:. 

      (1)   Single family dwelling units; 

      (2)   All buildings with fewer than five dwelling units and all buildings with five or 
more units; 

      (3)   The Town or its authorized collection service shall provide solid waste collection 
service to any building with five or more multi-family dwelling units; 

      (4)   Mobile home parks; 

      (5)   Mobile home developments; and 

      (6)   Townhouses and condominiums.(B)   The Town of Florence or its authorized 
collection service shall provide solid waste collection service to all institutional service 
units. 

    

§ 52.048  RESIDENTIAL BULK TRASH PLACEMENT AND COLLECTION 
SERVICES.  

   (A)   Bulk Trash collection services shall only be available for single family residential 
dwelling units. It shall be unlawful to place bulk trash out for collection more than 48 
hours prior to the scheduled placement date. The owner or occupant of a single family 
residential service unit shall notify the Collector no later than 24 hours before the 
scheduled placement date that a Bulk Trash pickup is requested. 

   (B)   Bulk trash shall be placed out for collection no later than 5:30 a.m. on the 
scheduled placement date. 

   (C)   Bulk trash placed out for collection shall be in neat stacks. 

   (D)   Bulk trash placed out for curbside collection shall be placed on the resident's 
property, parallel to the street or curb. Bulk trash shall not be placed on the sidewalk or in 
the street. 

   (E)   Bulk trash shall not be placed within five feet of any fixed object, solid waste or 
recycling container, utility meter, or in any manner which would interfere with or be 
hazardous to pedestrians, bicyclists, equestrians or motorists. 

   (F)   The amount of bulk trash placed for collection shall not exceed a total 
uncompacted volume of 20 cubic yards. 

   (G)   Items of bulk trash which are acceptable for normal residential collection are: 



      (1)   Tree limbs and branches less than four feet in length and 12 inches in diameter 
that are bundled, bagged or boxed; 

      (2)   Palm fronds; 

      (3)   Metal materials 20 pounds or less; 

      (4)   Pipe less than one inch in diameter and less than four feet in length; 

      (5)   Cardboard boxes; 

      (6)   Bagged or boxed leaves, weeds, grass, small hedge and vegetation clippings; 

      (7)   Manufactured items, such as washers, dryers, hot water heaters and appliances 
and equipment not containing refrigerants; 

      (8)   Twenty-five pounds or less of construction and demolition solid waste generated 
by a resident; 

      (9)   Hedge clippings, such as oleanders; and 

      (10)   Rubbish consisting only of cardboard, wooden boxes, brush, furniture, 
appliances, weeds and cuttings from trees or shrubs may be kept separately, without 
depositing in containers. Bulk materials, such as leaves and lawn clippings, if not placed 
in containers, shall be in a sack or receptacle for ease of loading. Compost piles may be 
maintained for fertilization purposes and matter used for fertilization purposes only be 
transported, kept and used. Nothing in this section shall be constructed as to permit the 
violations of any provision of this code, any ordinance or any rule or regulation of the 
Department. 

   (H)   Items of bulk trash which are not acceptable for normal residential collection 
include: 

      (1)   More than 25 pounds of construction and demolition solid waste generated by a 
resident or any amount generated by a contractor; 

      (2)   Vehicles or equipment parts in excess of 20 pounds; 

      (3)   Metal material in excess of 20 pounds; 

      (4)   Tires; 

      (5)   Pipe over one inch in diameter or over four feet in length; 

      (6)   Cement, cement blocks, bricks, asphalt, stones and dirt; and 

      (7)   Lead acid batteries; and. 

      (8)   Hazardous materials. 

   (I)   It shall be a violation of this Chapter to place unacceptable items, an amount 
exceeding 20 cubic yards or improperly placed bulk trash items out for collection. The 



responsible party shall remove and dispose of all bulk trash improperly placed, bulk trash 
exceeding 20 cubic yards and any unacceptable items of bulk trash at their own expense. 

   (J)   The Town municipality may abate any violation of this section pursuant herein. 

   (K)   Bulk Trash shall be collected once per month on a date determined by the 
Director. 

   (L)   Additional Bulk Trash collections may be requested for an additional fee pursuant 
to § 52.100. 

  (M)  The Director may require that yard waste be separated from other bulk trash for 
collection in an alternative manner. 

 
ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

 
§ 52.065  AUTHORITY TO ENFORCE. 

   The Director shall enforce the provisions of this Chapter. In addition, the Director is 
authorized to abate conditions, which in the opinion of the Director are an incipient or 
imminent threat to the health or safety of any person or persons or constitute a public 
nuisance. 

 
§ 52.066  RULES AND REGULATIONS. 

   The Director is authorized to make reasonable and necessary rules and regulations to 
carry out provisions of this Chapter. 

 
§ 52.067  ENFORCEMENT AND COOPERATION OF OTHER DEPARTMENTS. 

   Upon request from the Director, the Police Department, Town Attorney or the Florence 
Code Enforcement Officer have the authority to assist and cooperate in the enforcement 
of this Chapter. 

 
§ 52.068  ISSUANCE OF CITATION OR NOTICE OF VIOLATION. 

   (A)   If the municipality finds a violation of this Chapter, the municipality may notify 
the owner or responsible party through the issuance of a notice of violation or it may 
issue a citation. 

   (B)   If a notice of violation is issued and the violation is not corrected within the 
specified period, a civil citation or criminal complaint may be issued by any person 
authorized by this Chapter. If a notice of violation of this Chapter is issued, it shall 
include: 

      (1)   Identification of property in violation; 



      (2)   Statement of violations in sufficient detail to allow an owner or responsible party 
to identify and correct the problem; 

      (3)   Re-inspection date; 

      (4)   Address and phone number of a municipality representative to contact; and 

      (5)   A cost estimate to correct the violations, if the municipality intends to abate the 
violation. 

   (C)   Any notice given for any purpose under this Chapter shall be deemed effective on 
the date when written notice is delivered or mailed to the property owner or responsible 
party. If the municipality intends to abate the violation, any mailed service must be 
certified, return receipt requested. Nothing herein shall preclude the municipality from 
giving additional verbal or written notice at its discretion. If the municipality does elect to 
give any additional notice in any instance, it shall not thereby become obligated to give 
additional notice thereafter in the same or other situations. 

   (D)   Nothing in this section shall require the issuance of a notice of violation prior to 
the commencement of civil or criminal violation proceedings. 

 
§ 52.069  THREATS AND INTIMIDATION. 

   No person shall, by threatening to use or by using violence or physical force, 
intentionally obstruct, impede or interfere with any officer, employee, contractor or 
authorized representative of the municipality who is lawfully engaged in the enforcement 
or execution of the provisions of this Chapter. 

 
 

SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL FACILITIES 
 
§ 52.085  DISPOSAL SITE; DESIGNATION; ENFORCEMENT. 

   There is hereby established at the places and locations as the Council may from time to 
time designate, by motion or order, a place for the dumping and depositing of solid waste, 
bulk waste, recyclables, rubbish and garbage and any place or location shall be known, 
and the same is hereby designated as, the municipal disposal site.  

 
§ 52.086  DISPOSAL SITE; RULES AND REGULATIONS. 

   The inspector municipality is hereby authorized to make rules and regulations in 
cooperation and agreement with the health authorities designating the manner of and 
hours and limits of time of dumping or depositing rubbish and garbage in violation 
thereof; providing that before the rules and regulations become effective, appropriate 
signs shall be placed at or upon the premises of the municipal disposal site giving notice 
of the rules and regulations. 



 
SOLID WASTE FEES 

 
 
§ 52.100  LEVEL OF SOLID WASTE FEES; NO EXCEPTIONS. 

   (A)   Monthly solid waste fees shall be established by the Council as part of the annual 
budget process. 

    

§ 52.102  PAYMENT OF SOLID WASTE FEES. 

   All solid waste fees set forth in this Chapter shall be charged to the customer in 
accordance with the provisions set forth herein. 

 

§ 52.103  CREDITS AND DEBITS OF SOLID WASTE FEES. 

   (A)   The Finance DirectorPublic Works Director may not grant credits for missed 
pickups. 

   (B)   If an error occurs where either a customer has received Town solid waste service, 
but was not charged, or a customer was charged solid waste service he or she did not 
receive, except for missed pickups, a debit or credit may be approved. 

   (C)   The Finance Director will research the customer account to determine whether a 
credit or debit is owned and the amount to be debited or credited. 

   (D)   The length of time for either a debit by the Town or a credit to the customer shall 
be limited to 36 months prior to the date when the customer notifies the town of the error 
or the date the Town discovers the error.  

§ 52.104  METHOD OF COLLECTING FEES. 

   (A)   The method of collecting fees shall be established by the Finance DirectorTown 
Manager, who shall have the authority necessary to ensure the collection of the fees. All 
fees shall be due and payable on the last day of the month following billing. 

   (B)   If payment is not made, the collectiongarbage service may be suspended and the 
collectiongarbage container may be removed; however, the Owner or Occupant shall still 
be responsible for mandatory fees pursuant to § 52.002(B). 

   (C)   A deposit is required on sanitation accounts with no water service. The first initial 
account in which fees were paid through the building permit is excluded. When a 
container is delivered to a residential account that has established or reestablished 
service, or the container was picked up for non-payment, the deposit will be charged and 
remain on the account for two years (see Town of Florence Schedule of Fees). 



   (D)   An establishment fee is required to establish a service account. The first initial 
account in which fees were paid through the building permit is excluded (see Town of 
Florence Schedule of Fees). 

   (DE)   A fee may be imposed to restart the service in the event a service order is issued 
and a container is removed for non-payment. A collectiongarbage container shall be 
delivered and service restarted upon receipt of all fees and payment (see Town of 
Florence Schedule of Fees). 

   (EF)   Charges for service will commence when the customer has or should have 
established service, whether used or not. If service is established between the first day of 
the month and the fifteenth day of the month, a full month charge will be billed. If service 
is established between the sixteenth day of the month and the last, a half-month charge 
will be billed. 

   (FG)   When a property will be unoccupied for a period of time, sSuspension of service 
and collection of fees will be permitted for a period of not less than onetwo consecutive 
months but not more than twelve (12) months for the residential service units, provided 
that they are unoccupiedclass. If service is discontinued between the first day of the 
month and the fifteenth, a half-month charge shall be billed. If service is discontinued 
between the sixteenth of the month and the last day of the month, a full month charge will 
be billed. 

   (GH)   All requests for such suspension of service shall be in writing, on a form 
provided by the Town, and must be received prior to the first day of the month that the 
suspension is to begin. 

   (HI)   If any dispute arises from the return date of a customer, the Director of Public 
Works or the Finance Director may use any means possible to establish the date of return. 
Any uncollected fees arising from billing for the date of return will be added to the 
monthly bill and will become due and payable on the next billing cycle. 

 
 

 

§ 52.999  PENALTY. 

   (A)   A person convicted of a violation of division (A) of § 52.022 is guilty of a Class 1 
misdemeanor, punishable by a fine of not less than $250 nor more than $2,500, and, in 
the discretion of the court, by imprisonment for a term of not more than six months. In no 
case shall a person convicted of a violation of  § 52.022(A) be eligible for suspension or 
commutation of a sentence unless the person is placed on probation with the condition 
that the minimum mandatory fines be paid. 

   (B)   



     (1)   Any responsible party who commits, permits, facilitates or aids and abets any 
violation of this Chapter, or who fails to perform any act or duty required by this Chapter, 
is guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor. 

      (3)   Each day that any violation of this Chapter, or the failure to perform any act or 
duty required by this Chapter exists shall constitute a separate violation or offense. 

      (4)   The owner of record of a property at which a violation of this Chapter exists 
shall be presumed to be the person having lawful control over any such building, 
structure or parcel of land. If more than one person is determined to an owner of the 
property, such persons shall be jointly and severally liable for the violation. Any 
presumption arising from this subsection shall be rebuttable. 

      (5)   If a responsible party served with a notice of violation or citation by the 
municipality fails to correct the violation within the period specified, the municipality 
may correct or abate the condition as described in the notice and, in addition to any fine 
which may be imposed for a violation of any provision of this Chapter, the responsible 
party shall be liable for all costs which may be assessed pursuant to this Chapter for the 
correction or abatement of the condition. 

      (6)   If in the opinion of the Director any condition which is in violation of this 
Chapter constitutes an imminent health or safety hazard or a public nuisance, the Director 
may immediately abate the hazard without notice. The abatement of an imminent health 
or safety hazard or nuisance shall be limited to the minimum work necessary to remove 
or abate the hazard or the nuisance. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Common Council of the Town of Florence, Arizona 
this 18th  day of November, 2013.  

___________________________________ 

Tom J. Rankin, Mayor 

ATTEST: 

___________________________________ 

Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk  

 

APPROVED AS TO FORM: 

_________________________________ 

James E. Mannato, Town Attorney 

  
 



 
ORDINANCE  604-13 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE TOWN OF FLORENCE, PINAL 
COUNTY, ARIZONA AMENDING TITLE V, CHAPTER 52, 
“SOLID WASTE”. 

 

WHEREAS, it has been brought to the attention of the Council of the Town of 
Florence that it would be desirable and further the efficiency of the Finance and Public 
Works Departments to amend certain provisions of the Town’s solid waste regulations.  

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED that Title V, Chapter 52 of the Code 
of the Town of Florence is hereby amended by striking, deleting or adding the following 
provisions: 

GENERAL PROVISIONS 
 
§ 52.001  TITLE. 

   This Chapter shall be known as the “Solid Waste Ordinance of the Town of Florence”. 
It may be cited as such or as the “Florence Sanitation Code”. It may also be referred to 
hereinafter as “this Chapter”. 

 
§ 52.002  PURPOSE AND SCOPE. 

  A. Purpose. 

The purpose of this Chapter is to protect the health and safety of the citizens of the Town 
and to protect the environment by establishing minimum standards for the storage, 
collection, treatment, transportation, processing and disposal of solid waste. In addition, 
to set rates charged by the Town for its solid waste program and its inspection, collection 
and disposal services, so as to recover the Town’s costs to provide such services. 

B. Collection Required. 

Solid waste collections shall be made by the Town or by collection companies as 
authorized by the Town. Except as provided in subsections (C) and (D) of the section, all 
persons and properties within the Town are required to use the solid waste collection 
system of the Town, to haul, carry or transport solid waste through the streets and 
highways of the Town. All persons and occupied property shall use and be responsible 
for at least the minimum level of solid waste collection service and the associated charges 
and fees for residential, institutional or commercial service, as applicable, unless 
exempted from such requirements under this subsection or subsection (C) of this section. 
It shall be unlawful to dump or store solid waste, recyclable, or yard waste materials in 



violation of the provisions of this Chapter. The Town shall automatically bill the 
residential or commercial customer for such minimum level of service if the customer 
does not sign up for service within thirty (30) days of occupying a property in the Town. 
Upon satisfactory evidence that a residential customer owns a business in the Town that 
has a commercial solid waste collection service, the Director may in his discretion 
approve an exemption from the mandatory solid waste  collection service and payment 
requirements of this section.  

C. Commercial Permitted Hauler. 

Those commercial and industrial business establishments having prior established 
permits to haul their own waste may continue to haul such solid waste by annual permit. 
Renewal permits shall be issued upon application and payment of the annual permit fee. 
Any permit holder, as provided for in this subsection, shall haul solid waste at least once 
a week for public health reasons. 

D. Self-haul. 

This section does not prohibit the limited and occasional hauling of solid waste, 
recyclable materials, or yard wastes by a customer from their property to an approved 
Town solid waste, recyclables, or yard waste collection site. However, occasional haulers 
are not exempt from the mandatory solid waste collection service and payment 
requirements above and are responsible for the fees for collection site services, if any.  

E. Penalty. 

Violations of the provisions of this section are punishable as provided in § 52.999(B)(2) 
of this Chapter. 

 
52.003  POWERS AND DUTIES OF THE DIRECTOR. 

   The Director, in order to protect the health and safety of the citizens and the 
environment of the Town, is authorized and directed to implement and enforce the 
provisions of this Chapter to control the storage, collection, treatment, transportation, 
processing and disposal of solid waste generated within the Town. The Director is further 
authorized and directed to provide public solid waste disposal facilities for solid waste 
originating within the Town. Nothing in this Chapter is intended or shall be construed so 
as to infringe or supplant the authority of the Pinal County Health Department, the State 
Department of Health Services, State Department of Environmental Quality or the United 
States Environmental Protection Agency in this area pursuant to federal and state laws. 

 
52.004  HOURS OF COLLECTION. 

   (A)   The hours for collection of solid waste or recyclables by private and municipal 
collectors shall be regulated by the Director. In order to prohibit the disturbance of the 
public, it shall be unlawful to collect or remove solid waste or recyclables between the 
hours of 6:00 p.m. and 6:00 a.m. In the event of a missed collection or other unusual 



circumstances, reasonable accommodations may be approved by the Director if  a request 
is made by a person authorized to collect solid waste in the Town. 

   (B)   For purposes of this section, PRIVATE means any entity other than the Town or a 
collection service authorized by the Town. 

   (C)   All refuse shall be collected as deemed necessary by the Director or designee. 

 
52.005  DEFINITIONS. 

   For the purpose of this Chapter, the following definitions shall apply unless the context 
indicates or requires a different meaning. 

ALLEY.  A public passageway affording a secondary means of access to abutting 
property for utility and emergency vehicles. 

ASHES.  All residue from the burning of any combustible material but does not include 
ashes from medical waste, hazardous wastes or special waste. 

AUTOMATED CONTAINED SOLID WASTE COLLECTION SYSTEM.  A contained 
solid waste collection system that utilizes Town specified solid waste containers and a 
solid waste collection vehicle equipped with a lifting device. 

BULK TRASH.  Bulk trash means those items as defined in § 52.048(G). 

COLLECTOR.  The municipality or its authorized representative. 

COMMERCIAL SERVICE UNIT.  Any building, structure or premises not defined as a 
RESIDENTIAL SERVICE UNIT  or an INSTITUTIONAL SERVICE UNIT in this 
section. 

COMPACTOR OR ROLL-OFF SYSTEM.  A contained solid waste collection system 
that uses a stationary solid waste compactor and compactor bins or open top roll-off 
boxes. 

CONSTRUCTION AND DEMOLITION SOLID WASTE.  All solid waste, building 
materials, rubble, soil and spoils resulting from construction, remodeling, repair and 
demolition operations. 

CONTAINED SOLID WASTE.  All garbage and trash generated and placed in 
containers for disposal. 

DEPARTMENT.  The Town of Florence Public Works Department. 

DIRECTOR.  The Town Manager or designee. 

DWELLING UNIT. Any structure or structures used primarily for human habitation by 
one or more persons. 

FLY-TIGHT.  The lid of the container must fit flush around all contact points and 
prevent entry of flies or rodents. 



 GARBAGE.  All putrescible waste, except sewage and body waste, including waste 
accumulated of animals, food or vegetable matter, and including waste that attends the 
preparation, use, cooking, dealing in or storing of meat, fish, fowl, fruit and vegetable, 
and shall include all the wastes or accumulations or vegetable matter of residence, 
restaurants, hotels and places where food is prepared for human consumption. The term 
GARBAGE shall not include recognized industrial byproducts. Swill, offal and any 
accumulation of spoiled, partially or fully decomposed, rotting or discarded animal, 
vegetable or other matter that attends the preparation, handling, consumption, storage or 
decay of plant and animal matter including meats, fish, fowl, buds, fruits, vegetables or 
dairy products and their waste wrappers or containers. 

HAZARDOUS WASTE.  Any waste so defined by the provisions of A.R.S. Title 49, 
Chapter 5, Art. 2 and 40 C.F.R. part 261 and polychlorinated biphenyls (PCB's). 

HOUSEHOLD HAZARDOUS WASTE.  Any waste that would otherwise be a 
hazardous waste pursuant to A.R.S., Title 49, Chapter 5, Art. 2, and 40 C.F.R. part 261 
but is excluded as a hazardous waste because it is generated by the normal day-to-day 
activities of households. 

IMMINENT HEALTH or SAFETY HAZARD.  Condition of real property, solid waste 
or recycling container that places a persons life, health, safety or property in high risk of 
peril when the condition is immediate, impending on the point of happening and 
menacing. 

INCIPIENT HAZARD.  Condition of real property that can become an imminent or 
health hazard if further deterioration occurs that can cause unreasonable risk of death or 
severe personal injury. 

INSTITUTIONAL SERVICE UNIT.  Institutional Service Unit shall mean any school or 
educational facility; any government building or facility whether belonging to the Town 
of Florence, Pinal County, the State of Arizona or the United States; any jail or prison 
facility whether privately or publicly owned; any religious institution; any publicly 
owned medical facility and the buildings and facilities of any nonprofit organization. 

INFECTIOUS SOLID WASTE.  Any material which presents a significant danger of 
infection because it is contaminated with or may reasonably be expected to be 
contaminated with agents which cause or significantly contribute to the cause of 
increased infection or infectious disease in human beings. 

INSPECTOR.  The authorized employee or employees of the municipality having the 
duty of the enforcement of this Chapter. 

MOBILE HOME DEVELOPMENT.  A subdivision designed for mobile homes in 
which the lots are individually owned. 

MOBILE HOME PARK.  Property owned and operated for the purpose of leasing or 
renting out mobile home space to tenants. 



MULTI-FAMILY DWELLING UNITS.  A building or buildings attached to each other 
and containing two or more dwelling units. This term is intended to apply to dwelling 
unit types such as duplex, triplex, four-plex and apartments. 

NONCOMBUSTIBLE SOLID WASTE.  Consists of miscellaneous solid waste 
materials that are unburnable at ordinary incinerator operating temperatures (up to 
2,000°F) and is in the inorganic component of solid waste. 

NONPROFIT ORGANIZATION.  Any entity recognized by the Internal Revenue 
Service as having § 501(C)(3) status, or other tax exempt organizations however 
described. 

OBNOXIOUS MATERIALS.  Any solid waste that, when exposed, is unpleasant or 
offensive to the senses due to its odor or condition. 

OWNER.  A person, persons or legal entity listed as current title holder as recorded in the 
official records of the County Recorder's office. OWNER and OCCUPANT may be used 
interchangeably and shall mean every person in possession, charge or in control of any 
dwelling, flat, rooming house or any eating place, shop, place or business establishment 
where garbage or other refuse is created or accumulated. 

PERSON.  Any natural person; any corporation, partnership or other legal entity; and the 
United States, State of Arizona, County of Pinal and Town of Florence. 

PLACEMENT DATE.  The first day of the scheduled collection period, as established 
and published by the Director. 

PREMISES.  Land, building or other structures, or parts thereof, where solid waste is 
stored or accumulated. 

PRIVATE SOLID WASTE COLLECTION HAULERS.  Solid waste collection services 
owned and operated by private individuals or corporations holding a business license 
issued by the Town. 

PUBLIC NUISANCE.  Anything which is injurious or obnoxious to health, or is 
offensive to the senses, or is an obstruction to the free use of property, so as to interfere 
with the comfortable enjoyment of life or property by any considerable number of 
persons, or which obstruct the free passage or use, in the customary manner, of any street, 
alley, sidewalk or public property. 

PUTRESCIBLE SOLID WASTE.  Solid waste which is capable of being decomposed 
by microorganisms with sufficient rapidity as to cause nuisances from odors or gases and 
capable of providing food for or attracting birds, insects, snakes, rodents or animals 
capable of transferring a diseased bacterium or virus from one organism to another. 

RECYCLABLES.  Any solid waste that has been separated from other solid waste for the 
purpose of being collected and recycled. 

RECYCLING CONTAINER.  A receptacle used exclusively for the storage of 
recyclables until they are collected. 



REFRIGERANTS.  Chlorofluorocarbon (CFC) and hydrochloroflourocarbons (HCFC). 

REFUSE.  Solid wastes, including garbage and rubbish. 

RESIDENTIAL SERVICE UNIT.  Any single family or multi-family dwelling unit; any 
apartment building or apartment complex; any townhouse or condominium; and any 
other building or structure regardless of type which is used primarily for human 
habitation. Residential Service Unit does not include facilities for the detention or 
incarceration of prisoners. 

RESPONSIBLE PARTY.  An occupant, lessor, lessee, manager, licensee, owner or other 
person having control over a structure or parcel of land and in the case where remediation 
is proposed as a means of abatement, any lien holder whose lien interest is recorded in 
the official records of the County Recorder's office. 

RUBBISH.  Refuse other than garbage, tin cans, bottles, ashes, paper, pasteboard or 
wooden boxes, brush, leaves, weeds and cuttings from trees, lawns, shrubs and gardens or 
other waste materials produced in the normal course of everyday living. 

SCHOOLS.  All public and private buildings used for pre-school, elementary, specialized 
or higher education purposes. 

SMALL ANIMAL WASTE.  Refuse including feces and/or discarded bedding or flooring 
materials such as straw, sawdust or paper from yards, kennels, dog or cat runs, chicken 
pens, aviaries or other containment for domestic animals such as dogs, cats, fowl such as 
birds, chickens, ducks, geese or other tame or permitted wild animals under 150 pounds. 

SOLID WASTE.  Any garbage, bulk trash, yard waste and other materials or products, 
including putrescible and non-putrescible wastes, organic and inorganic wastes, 
combustible and noncombustible wastes and liquid non-hazardous waste, but not 
including hazardous waste or human body parts. 

SOLID WASTE CONTAINER.  A receptacle used exclusively for the storage of solid 
waste, excluding construction and demolition solid waste until it is collected. 

SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL FACILITY.  Any site owned, operated or utilized by any 
person for the collection, source separation, storage, transportation, transfer, processing, 
treatment or disposal of solid waste. 

SOLID WASTE FEE.  A fee assessed by the Town of Florence for solid waste services 
provided by the Public Works Department and associated functions. 

TIRE.  Is a tire used on vehicles, trailers, machinery or equipment used on or off the 
road, excluding bicycles and mopeds. 

TOWN OF FLORENCE.  The Town of Florence, Arizona. 

WATERTIGHT.  The lid of the container must fit flush around all contact points and 
prevent entry of rain. 

WASTE.  Unwanted solid, liquid or gaseous materials. 



YARD WASTE.  Branches, palm fronds, twigs, weeds, leaves, grass and vegetation 
clippings. 

 
§ 52.006  UNAUTHORIZED USE OF REFUSE COLLECTION SYSTEM 
UNLAWFUL. 

   There is hereby established a system of refuse collection, transportation and disposal 
and it shall be unlawful for any person to dump or dispose of any rubbish or garbage 
within the limits of the Town excepting in the refuse container assigned to them as an 
owner or occupant of a premises located in the Town, or as otherwise permitted in this 
Chapter. It shall also be unlawful to engage in the business of residential or institutional 
collection, transportation, hauling or conveying of solid waste over the streets or alleys of 
the municipality or to dump or dispose of the same except by the Town or its authorized 
collection services. 

 
§ 52.007 REFUSE ACCUMULATION UNLAWFUL. 

   It shall be unlawful for any person to accumulate or permit to accumulate in or about 
any yard, lot, place or premises, or upon any street, alley or sidewalk adjacent to such lot, 
yard, place or premises, any solid waste, garbage or refuse that is not contained as 
required by this Chapter.   

 
SOLID WASTE CONTAINMENT 

 
§ 52.020  INSPECTION OF CONTAINERS. 

   Provisions shall be made for regular inspections, by the Solid Waste Division of the 
Public Works Department to secure compliance with this Chapter with reference to 
containment of solid waste or recyclables. The Director shall have the right to enter 
commercial, industrial and institutional establishments for inspection purposes. 

 
§ 52.021  RESPONSIBILITY FOR SOLID WASTE AND RECYCLABLES. 

   (A)   The responsible party of any premises or business establishment shall be 
responsible for their solid waste or recyclables until the solid waste or recyclables are 
collected by the Town of Florence agents of the Town of Florence or licensed solid waste 
haulers. 

   (B)   The responsible party of any premises, business establishment or industry shall be 
responsible or the sanitary conditions of the premises, business establishment or industry, 
and for the proper storage, containment and placement for collection of all solid waste 
and recyclables. Except as provided in this Chapter, it shall be a violation for any person 
to bury, dump, dispose or release upon any street, alley, right-of-way or public land, any 
solid waste or recyclables, including construction and demolition solid waste and tires. 



 
§ 52.022  ILLEGAL DUMPING OF SOLID WASTE; PENALTY. 

   (A)   It shall be a violation for any person to dump, dispose or release, or cause to be 
dumped, disposed or released, any solid waste, garbage, bulk waste or refuse, including 
hazardous waste, upon any street, alley, right-of-way, public or private property within 
the Town of Florence except as specifically permitted in this Chapter. 

   (B)   In addition to any penalties imposed pursuant to § 52.999(B), a person in violation 
of subsection (A) above shall make restitution to the Town of Florence for all cleanup 
and disposal costs incurred by the Town of Florence. 

   (C)   If issuing a notice of violation of this provision involves a vehicle, the person in 
whose name the vehicle is registered shall be prima facie responsible for the violation and 
subject to penalties described in this Chapter. 

   (D)   The provisions of this section shall apply to those persons in whose names the 
vehicle is jointly registered. The person shall jointly and severally prima facie responsible 
for such a violation and subject to the penalties therefore.  

 
§ 52.023  HOUSEHOLD MEDICAL AND INFECTIOUS WASTE. 

   All household medical and infectious solid waste including lancets, syringes and 
hypodermic needles must be properly contained before disposing of in the solid waste 
container. Household and infectious waste must be placed in plastic bags and securely 
tied before placing in the solid waste container. Lancets, syringes and hypodermic 
needles must be placed in a rigid, leak-proof and puncture resistant container with a 
secured and taped lid and must be clearly labeled identifying the contents before placing 
in the solid waste container. Depositing or disposing of household medical and infectious 
waste or lancets, syringes and hypodermic needles in any recycling container is 
prohibited. 

 
§ 52.024  ANIMAL WASTE. 

   (A)   Wastes from animals and pets shall be removed and disposed of in the manner 
prescribed and as often as necessary to prevent occurrence of a nuisance or health and 
safety hazard. 

   (B)   Small animal waste from typical domestic pets such as dogs and cats shall be 
placed in a plastic bag, securely tied and placed in a solid waste container. 

   (C)   All animal owners and custodians shall immediately clean up and properly dispose 
of wastes left by their animals on any public street, alley, gutter, sidewalk, right-of-way 
or park. 

 
§ 52.025  UNOBSTRUCTED PASSAGE IN STREETS AND ALLEYS. 



   (A)   It shall be a violation for any person to permit trees, shrubs or brush growing upon 
his or her property to encroach on or over any public right-of-way so as to interfere with 
the movement of persons or vehicles. It is the responsibility of the responsible party to 
trim trees or shrubbery on their property and in the adjacent right-of-way back to their 
property line and allow 13 foot height clearance. 

   (B)   It shall be illegal to have any obstruction, including, but not limited to, parked 
vehicles within 15 feet of a solid waste or recycling container placed out or collection 
service or to obstruct the solid waste and/or recycling collection operations in any other 
manner. 

 
§ 52.026  SOLID WASTE OR RECYCLABLES CONTAINER REQUIREMENTS. 

   (A)   General statement.  The responsible party of any premises, business establishment 
or industry shall be responsible for the sanitary condition of the premises, business 
establishment or industry and for the proper storage, containment and placement for 
collection of all solid waste and recyclables. All solid waste and recyclables shall be 
stored in a manner that does not present a health or safety hazard or public nuisance, 
including, but not limited to the breeding of insects. No person shall place, deposit or 
allow to be placed or deposited on his or her premises or private property or any public 
street, alley or right-of-way any solid waste or recyclables except in a manner prescribed 
in this Chapter. 

   (B)   General requirements. 

      (1)   All responsible parties using or occupying any dwelling unit, commercial, 
industrial or institutional establishment or grounds within the corporate limits of the 
Town of Florence where solid waste and recyclables accumulate, shall contain their solid 
waste and recyclables in watertight and fly-tight containers. 

      (2)   Solid waste shall be stored, collected and hauled for disposal in accordance with 
the State Department of Health Services and State Department of Environmental Quality 
Regulations. 

      (3)   It is the container users' and responsible parties’ responsibility to properly 
contain solid waste or recyclables generated on their premises and to keep the area 
around the container continuously clear and free of all debris. If the property has alley 
solid waste service, the term AREA includes the alley. 

      (4)   All solid waste and recycling containers shall be maintained in a sanitary 
condition. Containers shall not be stored or maintained in such a manner as to constitute a 
nuisance, health or safety hazard. 

      (5)   It shall be unlawful for any person not authorized by the responsible party to 
remove, collect or disturb the solid waste and recyclables stored in the containers or to 
remove from a solid waste or recycling container any solid waste or recyclables set out 
for collection and disposal by the Town of Florence or its authorized collection services, 
or licensed commercial solid waste haulers. This prohibition does not apply to Town 



employees or authorized agents of the Town acting within the scope of their official 
duties. 

      (6)   It shall be unlawful for any person to utilize the solid waste or recycling 
containers or receptacles assigned to other persons for the disposal of solid waste or 
recyclables without their permission. This does not apply to the automated solid waste or 
recycling collection system where residents share the use of common containers. 

      (7)   The lids or covers of any solid waste and recycling containers shall at all times 
be kept secure in such a manner to prevent intrusion or moisture, infestation of insects 
and scattering of solid waste or recyclables. Covers shall be kept closed except when 
containers are being loaded or emptied. Each container shall be placed on or adjacent to 
the property of the authorized user at a location approved by the Director. 

      (8)   Location of containers. Containers used for storage of solid waste and 
recyclables shall be placed as follows: 

         (a)   Residential containers shall be located at curbside in front of the residential 
service unit. 

         (b)   No container shall be placed so as to restrict egress from an exit door or 
beneath a fire escape. No container shall be placed under a street floor window unless the 
window is of fire-resistant construction. 

      (9)   Containers place at curbside shall be located in such a manner to not interfere 
with pedestrians or vehicles. 

     (10)   All boxes, cartons and crates shall be collapsed before being placed in 
containers. Ashes shall be soaked with water to extinguish any live embers and contained 
in tied bags before placement in containers. 

      (11)   Explosive or flammable materials of any kind shall not be placed in any solid 
waste recycling container. 

      (12)   Corrosives, reactives, oxidizers, lead acid batteries or any hazardous waste shall 
not be disposed of in solid waste or recycling containers. 

      (13)   Pool chemical containers shall be emptied, rinsed, drained and moisture free 
prior to being placed in a solid waste or recycling container. 

   (C)   Residential user requirements. 

      (1)   All household solid waste and grass shall be bagged and securely tied before 
being placed in solid waste containers. Solid waste shall be drained of all liquids and tied 
in waterproof bags before being placed in solid waste containers. 

      (2)   Construction and demolition solid waste shall not be placed in a solid waste or 
recycling container unless generated by the Owner or Occupant of a residential dwelling 
unit. If the construction and demolition solid waste is generated by a contractor, the 
contractor is responsible for the removal and disposal of the solid waste. All construction 
and demolition solid waste shall be removed promptly and shall not be stored in any 



location where it may be blown or otherwise dispersed beyond the construction site. The 
Town of Florence may, upon request from the responsible party, provide containers for 
the construction and demolition solid waste for a different and separate fee. 

      (3)   It shall be unlawful to place material in any solid waste or recycling container of 
a volume or weight which prevents the collection vehicle from emptying the container or 
which damages the collection vehicle or container. Maximum weight of material placed 
in any 90- to 100-gallon container shall not exceed 200 pounds. 

      (4)   It shall be unlawful for any person not authorized by the Town to utilize, for 
other than its intended purpose, the lid from any solid waste or recycling container. 

   (D)   Commercial user requirements. 

      (1)   The owner or responsible party of any commercial or institutional solid waste or 
recycling container placed on private property or in the Town of Florence right-of-way 
shall be responsible for maintaining the area within a 25-foot radius around the container 
and/or bin in a sanitary condition and prevent scattering or blowing around of materials 
deposited. 

      (2)   Commercial users shall, where the volume of solid waste or recyclables 
accumulated cannot be conveniently handled in cans or bags, provide bins or compactor 
bins for containment of solid waste and/or recyclables. The bins or compactor bins shall 
be constructed of durable non-absorbent, noncombustible material and have suitable fly-
tight and watertight covers. 

      (3)   All commercial and institutional containers shall be placed or concealed in such 
a manner so as to minimize visibility from the street or public walkways. 

      (4)   All solid waste and recycling containers shall be identifiable by indicating the 
owner’s name and telephone number on the container and  shall meet all requirements of 
this Chapter. The container identification must be readable from a minimum distance of 
ten feet. 

      (5)   Commercial users, shall, upon request of the Director, be required to show 
documentation of the method of collection and removal of solid waste and/or recyclables 
generated by the establishment. 

 
§ 52.027  CONDEMNATION OF CONTAINERS; REMOVAL. 

   (A)   If a solid waste or recycling container is in violation and presents a health or 
safety hazard, the Director shall issue a notice of violation to the responsible party. 
Notification shall consist of tagging the solid waste or recycling containers with a notice 
of violation or by delivering a notice in person or by mail to the responsible party. 

   (B)   If action necessary to remedy the violation is not taken within the period specified, 
the Director shall have the right to remove the solid waste or recycling container and 
dispose of it in accordance with and subject to § 52.003. 

 



§ 52.028  RESPONSIBILITY FOR STREETS, ALLEYS AND SIDEWALKS. 

   (A)   The owner and any responsible party in control of any land abutting a sidewalk, 
alley or street shall maintain the sidewalk, alley or street free from any accumulation of 
solid waste. 

   (B)   The areas required to be maintained pursuant to this section are: 

      (1)   Any portion of a street, which has been opened for public use, between the curb 
line and the abutting property line including sidewalks; and 

      (2)   One-half the width of abutting alleys from the property line to the centerline of 
the alley. 

 
§ 52.029  BURNING AND DUMPING UNLAWFUL. 

   No person, whether a resident or non-resident, shall burn, incinerate, bury, dump, 
collect, remove or in any other manner dispose of rubbish or garbage within the limits of 
the municipality, except as provided in this Chapter or as provided in a special permit 
issued by the Pinal County Air Quality Control and the Florence Fire Department. No 
person shall throw, discard or deposit any rubbish or garbage in or upon any street, alley, 
sidewalk or vacant ground, or in or upon any canal, irrigation ditch, drainage ditch or 
other watercourse. 

 
SOLID WASTE COLLECTION 

 
§ 52.045  OWNERSHIP, PLACEMENT AND RESPONSIBILITY FOR 
CONTAINERS. 

   (A)   The frequency of contained solid waste collections shall be in accordance with the 
State Department of Environmental Quality Regulations. 

   (B)   Collection days shall be designated by the Director. 

   (C)   The Director determines the service level required and method of collection. 
Residents may request different levels of service based on service levels and fees 
established in § 52.100. 

   (D)   The Collector will specify, purchase and own the containers which are provided to 
the residents, which are to be used by residential service units for no other purpose than 
as solid waste and recycling collection containers. 

   (E)    Residents receiving curbside service shall place their containers at the curb in 
front of their residence in such a manner that it allows for the safe and efficient operation 
of the collection vehicle and does not interfere with pedestrian or vehicular traffic. 
Containers shall be placed so that they open towards the street. 



   (F)   Residential lots that cannot be safely or efficiently serviced using the Town's 
standard solid waste equipment will be assessed a different and separate fee as set by the 
Director. Situations where a different and separate fee may apply includes, but is not 
limited to, hillside developments, private streets, dead-end streets without adequate 
turnarounds and multi-family dwelling units. 

   (G)   The Collector is responsible for cleaning only shared use containers. 

   (H)   All containers issued by the Town or its authorized collection service for use in 
conjunction with an automated loading device shall remain the property or the authorized 
service provider. The Town or its authorized collection service is responsible for repairs 
to the  containers when damage is caused during normal usage. Containers shall be 
secured between collection days in such a manner that they are not readily susceptible to 
theft or vandalism. Anyone found to have intentionally or negligently damaged the 
container provided to them shall be liable to pay the replacement or repair cost. 

   (I)   Only the Collector shall be authorized to remove any solid waste or recycling 
container from its assigned location. It shall be unlawful for any other person to remove a 
container from the address to which it is assigned. 

   (J)   To ensure containers are placed out on time, containers may be placed at the curb 
after 6:00 p.m. on the day preceding collection. Containers for street collection shall be 
placed at the curb for service no later than 5:30 a.m. on the day of collection. They must 
be removed prior to 5:30 a.m. on the day after collection. It shall be unlawful to place or 
permit containers to remain adjacent to the curb except upon regular collection days. 
Containers shall be stored between collection days on the users’ property so as to not 
interfere with pedestrian or vehicular traffic. 

   (L)   Every owner and occupant of premises within the prescribed limits of the Town 
shall use the refuse collecting and disposal system assigned to them,  and they shall 
deposit or cause to be deposited in accordance with this Chapter all rubbish and garbage 
that is of  a nature that it is perishable, may decompose or may be scattered by wind or 
otherwise, which accumulated on their premises. 

 
§ 52.047  RESIDENTIAL, INSTITUTIONAL AND COMMERCIAL 
COLLECTION. 

   (A)   The Town of Florence or its authorized collection service shall provide solid 
waste collection service to all residential service units. 

   (B)   The Town of Florence or its authorized collection service shall provide solid waste 
collection service to all institutional service units.    

§ 52.048  RESIDENTIAL BULK TRASH PLACEMENT AND COLLECTION 
SERVICES.  

   (A)   Bulk Trash collection services shall only be available for single family residential 
dwelling units. It shall be unlawful to place bulk trash out for collection more than 48 
hours prior to the scheduled placement date. The owner or occupant of a single family 



residential service unit shall notify the Collector no later than 24 hours before the 
scheduled placement date that a Bulk Trash pickup is requested. 

   (B)   Bulk trash shall be placed out for collection no later than 5:30 a.m. on the 
scheduled placement date. 

   (C)   Bulk trash placed out for collection shall be in neat stacks. 

   (D)   Bulk trash placed out for curbside collection shall be placed on the resident's 
property, parallel to the street or curb. Bulk trash shall not be placed on the sidewalk or in 
the street. 

   (E)   Bulk trash shall not be placed within five feet of any fixed object, solid waste or 
recycling container, utility meter, or in any manner which would interfere with or be 
hazardous to pedestrians, bicyclists, equestrians or motorists. 

   (F)   The amount of bulk trash placed for collection shall not exceed a total 
uncompacted volume of 20 cubic yards. 

   (G)   Items of bulk trash which are acceptable for normal residential collection are: 

      (1)   Tree limbs and branches less than four feet in length and 12 inches in diameter 
that are bundled, bagged or boxed; 

      (2)   Palm fronds; 

      (3)   Metal materials 20 pounds or less; 

      (4)   Pipe less than one inch in diameter and less than four feet in length; 

      (5)   Cardboard boxes; 

      (6)   Bagged or boxed leaves, weeds, grass, small hedge and vegetation clippings; 

      (7)   Manufactured items, such as washers, dryers, hot water heaters and appliances 
and equipment not containing refrigerants; 

      (8)   Twenty-five pounds or less of construction and demolition solid waste generated 
by a resident; 

      (9)   Hedge clippings, such as oleanders; and 

      (10)   Rubbish consisting only of cardboard, wooden boxes, brush, furniture, 
appliances, weeds and cuttings from trees or shrubs may be kept separately, without 
depositing in containers. Bulk materials, such as leaves and lawn clippings, if not placed 
in containers, shall be in a sack or receptacle for ease of loading. Compost piles may be 
maintained for fertilization purposes and matter used for fertilization purposes only be 
transported, kept and used. Nothing in this section shall be constructed as to permit the 
violations of any provision of this code, any ordinance or any rule or regulation of the 
Department. 



   (H)   Items of bulk trash which are not acceptable for normal residential collection 
include: 

      (1)   More than 25 pounds of construction and demolition solid waste generated by a 
resident or any amount generated by a contractor; 

      (2)   Vehicles or equipment parts in excess of 20 pounds; 

      (3)   Metal material in excess of 20 pounds; 

      (4)   Tires; 

      (5)   Pipe over one inch in diameter or over four feet in length; 

      (6)   Cement, cement blocks, bricks, asphalt, stones and dirt; and 

      (7)   Lead acid batteries; and 

      (8)   Hazardous materials. 

   (I)   It shall be a violation of this Chapter to place unacceptable items, an amount 
exceeding 20 cubic yards or improperly placed bulk trash items out for collection. The 
responsible party shall remove and dispose of all bulk trash improperly placed, bulk trash 
exceeding 20 cubic yards and any unacceptable items of bulk trash at their own expense. 

   (J)   The Town municipality may abate any violation of this section pursuant herein. 

   (K)   Bulk Trash shall be collected once per month on a date determined by the 
Director. 

   (L)   Additional Bulk Trash collections may be requested for an additional fee pursuant 
to § 52.100. 

  (M)  The Director may require that yard waste be separated from other bulk trash for 
collection in an alternative manner. 

 
ADMINISTRATION AND ENFORCEMENT 

 
§ 52.065  AUTHORITY TO ENFORCE. 

   The Director shall enforce the provisions of this Chapter. In addition, the Director is 
authorized to abate conditions, which in the opinion of the Director are an incipient or 
imminent threat to the health or safety of any person or persons or constitute a public 
nuisance. 

 
§ 52.066  RULES AND REGULATIONS. 

   The Director is authorized to make reasonable and necessary rules and regulations to 
carry out provisions of this Chapter. 



 
§ 52.067  ENFORCEMENT AND COOPERATION OF OTHER DEPARTMENTS. 

   Upon request from the Director, the Police Department, Town Attorney or the Florence 
Code Enforcement Officer have the authority to assist and cooperate in the enforcement 
of this Chapter. 

 
§ 52.068  ISSUANCE OF CITATION OR NOTICE OF VIOLATION. 

   (A)   If the municipality finds a violation of this Chapter, the municipality may notify 
the owner or responsible party through the issuance of a notice of violation or it may 
issue a citation. 

   (B)   If a notice of violation is issued and the violation is not corrected within the 
specified period, a civil citation or criminal complaint may be issued by any person 
authorized by this Chapter. If a notice of violation of this Chapter is issued, it shall 
include: 

      (1)   Identification of property in violation; 

      (2)   Statement of violations in sufficient detail to allow an owner or responsible party 
to identify and correct the problem; 

      (3)   Re-inspection date; 

      (4)   Address and phone number of a municipality representative to contact; and 

      (5)   A cost estimate to correct the violations, if the municipality intends to abate the 
violation. 

   (C)   Any notice given for any purpose under this Chapter shall be deemed effective on 
the date when written notice is delivered or mailed to the property owner or responsible 
party. If the municipality intends to abate the violation, any mailed service must be 
certified, return receipt requested. Nothing herein shall preclude the municipality from 
giving additional verbal or written notice at its discretion. If the municipality does elect to 
give any additional notice in any instance, it shall not thereby become obligated to give 
additional notice thereafter in the same or other situations. 

   (D)   Nothing in this section shall require the issuance of a notice of violation prior to 
the commencement of civil or criminal violation proceedings. 

 
§ 52.069  THREATS AND INTIMIDATION. 

   No person shall, by threatening to use or by using violence or physical force, 
intentionally obstruct, impede or interfere with any officer, employee, contractor or 
authorized representative of the municipality who is lawfully engaged in the enforcement 
or execution of the provisions of this Chapter. 

 



 
SOLID WASTE DISPOSAL FACILITIES 

 
§ 52.085  DISPOSAL SITE; DESIGNATION; ENFORCEMENT. 

   There is hereby established at the places and locations as the Council may from time to 
time designate, by motion or order, a place for the dumping and depositing of solid waste, 
bulk waste, recyclables, rubbish and garbage and any place or location shall be known, 
and the same is hereby designated as, the municipal disposal site.  

 
§ 52.086  DISPOSAL SITE; RULES AND REGULATIONS. 

   The municipality is hereby authorized to make rules and regulations in cooperation and 
agreement with the health authorities designating the manner of and hours and limits of 
time of dumping or depositing rubbish and garbage in violation thereof; providing that 
before the rules and regulations become effective, appropriate signs shall be placed at or 
upon the premises of the municipal disposal site giving notice of the rules and 
regulations. 

 
SOLID WASTE FEES 

 
 
§ 52.100  LEVEL OF SOLID WASTE FEES; NO EXCEPTIONS. 

   (A)   Monthly solid waste fees shall be established by the Council as part of the annual 
budget process. 

    

§ 52.102  PAYMENT OF SOLID WASTE FEES. 

   All solid waste fees set forth in this Chapter shall be charged to the customer in 
accordance with the provisions set forth herein. 

§ 52.103  CREDITS AND DEBITS OF SOLID WASTE FEES. 

   (A)   The Finance Director may not grant credits for missed pickups. 

   (B)   If an error occurs where either a customer has received Town solid waste service, 
but was not charged, or a customer was charged solid waste service he or she did not 
receive, except for missed pickups, a debit or credit may be approved. 

   (C)   The Finance Director will research the customer account to determine whether a 
credit or debit is owned and the amount to be debited or credited. 

   (D)   The length of time for either a debit by the Town or a credit to the customer shall 
be limited to 36 months prior to the date when the customer notifies the town of the error 
or the date the Town discovers the error.  



§ 52.104  METHOD OF COLLECTING FEES. 

   (A)   The method of collecting fees shall be established by the Finance Director, who 
shall have the authority necessary to ensure the collection of the fees. All fees shall be 
due and payable on the last day of the month following billing. 

   (B)   If payment is not made, the collection service may be suspended and the collection 
container may be removed; however, the Owner or Occupant shall still be responsible for 
mandatory fees pursuant to § 52.002(B). 

   (C)   A deposit is required on sanitation accounts with no water service. When a 
container is delivered to a residential account that has established or reestablished 
service, or the container was picked up for non-payment, the deposit will be charged and 
remain on the account for two years (see Town of Florence Schedule of Fees). 

   (D)   A fee may be imposed to restart the service in the event a service order is issued 
and a container is removed for non-payment. A collection container shall be delivered 
and service restarted upon receipt of all fees and payment (see Town of Florence 
Schedule of Fees). 

   (E)   Charges for service will commence when the customer has or should have 
established service, whether used or not. If service is established between the first day of 
the month and the fifteenth day of the month, a full month charge will be billed. If service 
is established between the sixteenth day of the month and the last, a half-month charge 
will be billed. 

   (F)   When a property will be unoccupied for a period of time, suspension of service 
and collection of fees will be permitted for a period of not less than one month but not 
more than twelve (12) months for residential service units, provided that they are 
unoccupied. If service is discontinued between the first day of the month and the 
fifteenth, a half-month charge shall be billed. If service is discontinued between the 
sixteenth of the month and the last day of the month, a full month charge will be billed. 

   (G)   All requests for such suspension of service shall be in writing, on a form provided 
by the Town, and must be received prior to the first day of the month that the suspension 
is to begin. 

   (H)   If any dispute arises from the return date of a customer, the Director or the 
Finance Director may use any means possible to establish the date of return. Any 
uncollected fees arising from billing for the date of return will be added to the monthly 
bill and will become due and payable on the next billing cycle. 

 
 

 

§ 52.999  PENALTY. 



   (A)   A person convicted of a violation of division (A) of § 52.022 is guilty of a Class 1 
misdemeanor, punishable by a fine of not less than $250 nor more than $2,500, and, in 
the discretion of the court, by imprisonment for a term of not more than six months. In no 
case shall a person convicted of a violation of  § 52.022(A) be eligible for suspension or 
commutation of a sentence unless the person is placed on probation with the condition 
that the minimum mandatory fines be paid. 

   (B)   

     (1)   Any responsible party who commits, permits, facilitates or aids and abets any 
violation of this Chapter, or who fails to perform any act or duty required by this Chapter, 
is guilty of a Class 1 misdemeanor. 

      (3)   Each day that any violation of this Chapter, or the failure to perform any act or 
duty required by this Chapter exists shall constitute a separate violation or offense. 

      (4)   The owner of record of a property at which a violation of this Chapter exists 
shall be presumed to be the person having lawful control over any such building, 
structure or parcel of land. If more than one person is determined to an owner of the 
property, such persons shall be jointly and severally liable for the violation. Any 
presumption arising from this subsection shall be rebuttable. 

      (5)   If a responsible party served with a notice of violation or citation by the 
municipality fails to correct the violation within the period specified, the municipality 
may correct or abate the condition as described in the notice and, in addition to any fine 
which may be imposed for a violation of any provision of this Chapter, the responsible 
party shall be liable for all costs which may be assessed pursuant to this Chapter for the 
correction or abatement of the condition. 

      (6)   If in the opinion of the Director any condition which is in violation of this 
Chapter constitutes an imminent health or safety hazard or a public nuisance, the Director 
may immediately abate the hazard without notice. The abatement of an imminent health 
or safety hazard or nuisance shall be limited to the minimum work necessary to remove 
or abate the hazard or the nuisance. 

PASSED AND ADOPTED by the Council of the Town of Florence, Pinal 
County, Arizona, this ___  day of _______, 2013.  

       ______________________________ 
                                                                                    Tom J. Rankin, Mayor 
 
 
ATTEST:      APPROVED AS TO FORM: 
 
 
___________________________________  ______________________________ 
Lisa Garcia, Town Clerk     James E. Mannato, Town Attorney 
  
 



 

TOWN OF FLORENCE
COUNCIL ACTION 

FORM 

AGENDA ITEM 
8b.  

MEETING DATE: November 18, 2013 
 
DEPARTMENT: Community Development 
 
STAFF PRESENTER: Mark Eckhoff, AICP 
                                  Community Development Director 
 
SUBJECT: Cuen Building Stabilization 

 Action 
 Information Only 
 Public Hearing 
 Resolution 
 Ordinance   

 Regulatory   

 1st Reading  

 2nd Reading 
 Other 

 
RECOMMENDED MOTION: 
Subject:  Cuen Building Restoration                                              Meeting Date:  November 18, 2013 
Page 1 of 3 
 

 
Motion to commit up to $50,000 in matching funds to use towards the stabilization of the 
Cuen building with a commitment to not utilize the restored building for governmental 
offices. 

BACKGROUND/DISCUSSION: 
 
On October 7, 2013, the Mayor and Council of the Town of Florence accepted the 
donation for the Cuen building from Langley Momentum Historical, LLC. 
 
The Cuen Building, located adjacent to the Town’s Fitness Center, is an example of 
Transformed Sonoran architecture. Available evidence suggests that the building was 
originally built as a residence and shop by Francisco Cuen, a butcher. This brick and 
adobe then housed Florence’s first Telephone Exchange.   
 
As initially constructed, the building was L-shaped, with two one room wide wings. The 
building interior was extensively remodeled in 1910 for use as Florence’s first telephone 
central office. At about this time, the structure’s 11th Street wing was shortened.  The 
building continued in use as the Town’s telephone exchange until after 1941. By 1960, it 
had become the office of attorneys Tom Fulbright and Ernest McFarland. Fulbright, a 
prominent Florence lawyer, served as Pinal County District Attorney and, later, as 
Attorney for the Town of Florence. For the past few decades, the building has been 
unoccupied and continually deteriorating.    
 
Over the past seven years, a few improvements have been made to stabilize the 
structure on an interim basis. A recent external and internal assessment of the facility 
with Town staff and Swan Architects confirmed that prompt action needs to be taken to 
demolish, rehabilitate or re-construct the subject building. 
 



Subject:  Cuen Building Restoration                                              Meeting Date:  November 18, 2013 
Page 2 of 3 
 

Multiple penetrations into the building have allowed the elements to accelerate 
deterioration (bricks, plaster, adobe, etc.) and permitted pigeons to roost in the facility. 
The north wall, roof and chimney cannot be saved. The building is gutted inside. 
Beyond structural concerns, these conditions present aesthetic and other issues that 
are repeatedly noted by downtown visitors and patrons of the Fitness Center. 
 
Swan Architects (known for the current work on the Brunenkant building and their 
completed work on the 1891 Pinal County Courthouse) has provided estimates for three 
construction options. Swan Architects has estimated a probable renovation cost of 
$177,100.00. Their estimate to reconstruct the building, i.e., essentially to create a 
replica, increases to $256,969. The third option is to only allocate the funds necessary 
to keep the building safe, structurally sound and more aesthetically pleasing. This 
stabilization approach is estimated to cost approximately $91,000. 

 
Restored, the Cuen Building remains very small at approximately 1,000 square feet, 
thus limiting its practical use. However, the building could accommodate a small office 
or service use or maybe even make a good location for a small walk-up restaurant. 
Though small, the building has a rich history and is an important contributor to the 
Historic District and Main Street environment.   
 
FINANCIAL IMPACT: 
 
Estimates to restore the building in 2005-2006 were closer to $150,000. Since that time 
the facility has substantially deteriorated and based on a field assessment and a review 
of the 2005-2006 construction plans, Swan Architects suggests it could take 
approximately $91,000 to stabilize the building, $177,000 to rehabilitate the building or 
nearly $257,000 to re-construct the building. It would take a more in depth analysis to 
determine the precise figure, but these estimates predict the probable price range to 
save this building.  
 
The acceptance of donations to go towards restoration efforts would off-set the Town’s 
financial impact and also allow for greater community participation in an important 
restoration project. However, the IDA and others have indicated a preference to only 
donate funds for this project if it is confirmed that the Town will match funds and not use 
the restored facility for governmental offices. 
 
Currently, the Town has verbal statements from the IDA indicating their willingness to 
donate between $30,000 and $40,000 to the Town towards the Cuen restoration 
project. Other smaller donations could bring the amount of donated funds closer to 
$50,000. With the $50,000 match, the Town would have the funds needed for the 
stabilization work. 
 
No funds have been allotted for stabilization, restoration or construction efforts on this 
building/property in the current budget, though there are funds in the budget that could 
be redistributed for this project should the higher priority be established. Grant funds 



Subject:  Cuen Building Restoration                                              Meeting Date:  November 18, 2013 
Page 3 of 3 
 

that once existed for these types of projects are not available, though this could change 
in the coming years. 
 
Staff notes that the Town’s expenditure on the Brunenkant stabilization project is not 
projected to exceed $200,000, which is substantially less than the $300,000 authorized 
and set aside for this project. This savings can be applied towards the Cuen building so 
there is no net increase in funding for these two worthy historic preservation projects. 
 
RECOMMENDATION: 
 
Motion to commit up to $50,000 in matching funds to use towards the stabilization of the 
Cuen building with a commitment to not utilize the restored building for governmental 
offices. 

ATTACHMENTS: 
 
Swan Architects Estimates 



September 30, 2013 (12:18pm) C:\Files\Miscellaneous\Florence\Cuen Building Review.wpd

s w a n
ar chi tec ts ,  in c .
833 north 5th avenue

Phoenix, arizona 85003

tel :  602-264-3083

fax:  602-274-7658

www.swanarchitects.com

September 30, 2013

Mark Eckhoff, AICP, CFM
Director of Community Development
Town of Florence

Re: Cuen Building

Dear Mr. Eckhoff,

We have reviewed the previously completed contract documents and have the following cost-saving
recommendations.

Architectural

• Postpone construction of west porch until a grant can be obtained.

• Restore rather than replace original or early wood windows. Install 3/4"-thick, low -E, insulated
glass.

• Relocate restroom to northeast corner of building. This is the smaller of the two existing east
rooms and could also be used as an office equipment/work room with a kitchenette. Verify if
sewer and water can be obtained in 11th Street.

• Do not remove sound stucco from exterior walls. This will only damage the existing clay bricks
and adobe blocks. Restore stucco finishes.

Structural

• Reinforce existing rafters with new 2x rafters sistered to existing.

• Install steel pipe columns below existing and/or new ridge beam.

• Mechanically attach rafters to top of west brick wall and east wood frame wall.

• Delete east and west glulam beam, columns, and caisson footings.

• Install new plywood sheathing over entire roof prior to installing felt and corrugated metal roof
panels.

Mechanical

• Route restroom exhaust fan through east wood stud wall rather than roof.

Electrical

• Reduce by at least 50 percent the number of electrical receptacles and lighting fixtures. 



Re: Cuen Building
September 30, 2013
Page: 2

September 30, 2013 (12:18pm) C:\Files\Miscellaneous\Florence\Cuen Building Review.wpd

Probable Renovation/Rehabilitation Costs
September 30, 2013

Selective Demolition/Sawcutting $ 8,000

Concrete/Asphalt $ 10,000

Adobe Block/Brick Rehabilitation $ 13,000

Miscellaneous Steel $ 2,000

Rough Carpentry $ 12,000

Gypsum Drywall $ 7,000

Stucco/Plaster $ 10,000

Skylight Restoration $ 5,000

Wood Doors/Hardware $ 8,000

Wood Windows $ 4,000

Floor Covering $ 3,000

Paint $ 3,000

Miscellaneous/Accessories $ 1,500

Mechanical $ 10,000

Plumbing $ 18,000

Electrical $ 12,000

Subtotal $ 126,500

Contingency (10%) $ 12,650

Contractor Overhead and Profit (19%) $ 24,035

Bonds, Insurance, and Taxes (11%) $ 13,915

Total Probable Costs: $ 177,100



Re: Cuen Building
September 30, 2013
Page: 3

September 30, 2013 (12:18pm) C:\Files\Miscellaneous\Florence\Cuen Building Review.wpd

Probable Reconstruction Costs
September 30, 2013

Demolition Costs – 1,003 s.f. x $8/s.f. $ 8,024

Construct Replica Building – 1,003 s.f. x $175/s.f. $ 175,525

Subtotal $ 183,549

Contingency (10%) $ 18,355

Contractor Overhead and Profit (19%) $ 34,874

Bonds, Insurance, and Taxes (11%) $ 20,190

Total Probable Costs: $ 256,969

Sincerely,

Jeffry A. Swan, AIA
President



October 21, 2013 (8:15am) C:\Files\Miscellaneous\Florence\Cuen Building Review #2.wpd

s w a n
ar chi tec ts ,  in c .
833 north 5th avenue

Phoenix, arizona 85003

tel :  602-264-3083

fax:  602-274-7658

www.swanarchitects.com

October 21, 2013

Mark Eckhoff, AICP, CFM
Director of Community Development
Town of Florence

Re: Cuen Building

Dear Mr. Eckhoff,

The following probable costs are to stabilize the Cuen Building. However, we also included the
restoration/ replacement of exterior doors and windows so the building’s exterior is more attractive
to prospective tenants.

Architectural

• Postpone construction of west porch until a grant can be obtained.

• Restore rather than replace original or early wood windows. Install 3/4"-thick, low -E, insulated
glass.

• Do not remove sound stucco from exterior walls. This will only damage the existing clay bricks
and adobe blocks. Restore exterior stucco walls.

Structural

• Reinforce existing rafters with new 2x rafters sistered to existing.

• Install steel pipe columns below existing and/or new ridge beam.

• Mechanically attach rafters to top of west brick wall and east wood frame wall.

• Delete east and west glulam beam, columns, and caisson footings.

• Install new plywood sheathing over entire roof prior to installing felt and corrugated metal roof
panels.

Mechanical

No work

Electrical

No work



Re: Cuen Building
October 21, 2013
Page: 2

October 21, 2013 (8:15am) C:\Files\Miscellaneous\Florence\Cuen Building Review #2.wpd

Probable Stabilization Costs

October 21, 2013

Selective Demolition/Sawcutting $ 5,000

Concrete $ 4,000

Adobe Block/Brick Rehabilitation $ 18,000

Miscellaneous Steel $ 2,000

Rough Carpentry $ 13,000

Stucco/Plaster $ 3,000

Skylight Weatherproofing $ 1,500

Metal Roof Panels $ 5,000

Wood Doors/Hardware $ 5,000

Wood Windows $ 4,000

Sealants $ 1,500

Paint $ 3,000

Subtotal $ 65,000

Contingency (10%) $ 6,500

Contractor Overhead and Profit (19%) $ 12,350

Bonds, Insurance, and Taxes (11%) $ 7,150

Total Probable Costs: $ 91,000

Sincerely,

Jeffry A. Swan, AIA
President


	November 18, 2013 Agenda
	Page 2

	6. PRESENTATION AND PUBLIC HEARING
	6a. Ordinance No. 603-13 Old West Bail Bonds
	6c. 2014 Citizen Survey Presentation

	7. CONSENT
	7a. Construction of Sample Point Compliance Well at South WWTP
	7b i. March 27, 2013 Minutes HDAC
	7b i. April 10, 2013 Minutes HDAC
	7b i. May 29, 2013 Minutes HDAC


	7b ii. July 18, 2013 Minutes PZ
	7b ii. August 1, 2013 Minutes PZ
	7b ii. August 15, 2013 Minutes PZ

	7b iii. July 25, 2013 Minutes PR

	8.NEW BUSINESS
	8a. Ordinance No. 604-13 Sanitation Services
	8b. Cuen Building Restoration




